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o the amount of £181/0, 6, appraised by William Carravan, Hugh Mills and
_ichard Carr. The land was patented to David, who afterward sold it to
Robert Breckenridge.

Among the old men who came into the community there was none more
interesting than Old Mr. Robinson, on the South Branch. His adventure into
this new country was made in the interest of his children with whom he was
sharing the property, both personal and real. The land was patented in the
name of his son, John, who made deeds to his brothers, James and William, for
certain shares, but was killed at Vause’s Fort, before the family business was
settled and thus left his mother and the other children a great deal of trouble.
The father, James Robinson, Sr. died in 1753. The mother, Esther, gave bond
as administratrix in August, with her son, William, as surety. The children
were James, John, William, Samuel, Thomas, Joseph, Ann who married Jacob
Brown, Elizabeth who married John Draper.

James Robinson’s Inventory was made in March, 1754, by James Camp-
bell, Ephraim Vause and John Robinson. He had 4 horses, 3 colts, 9 sheep, 4
cows, 2 steers, 2 heifers, 7 calves, a rifle gun, a suit of clothes worth £2/0/0,
household goods £2/0/0, grain £3,/0/0, bedding 0,/15/0, old iron 0/12/0 and
a flax wheel 0/7/0, and an 8th part of an old wagon 0/10/0.

John Robinson left wife, Mary, and daughter, Elizabeth. Hisappraisement
made in March, 1757, shows that he owned a negro wench valued at £20/0/0;
a little old black mare, 2,/0/0; a bay pacing horse 3/0,/0; a dark pacing mare

10,0; 7 cows, pyd, brown, white-faced and black—Sworn to by Neal McNeal,
sker Tosh and Thomas Tosh before James Neely, a justice of the peace.

Elizabeth Robinson held the title to all the Robinson land, except the two
tracts for which her father had made deeds. Her guardian was her Uncle, William
Robinson, who had married Margaret Gorrell and lived on the part of the
land that came to be called the Fotheringay estate.

Ephraim Vause appears in the records in 1746 when he got a grant for
200 acres of land on the north side of Goose Creek and is listed among the
workers on the road down South Branch. This land was between James Camp-
bell’'s and William Bryan’s. The next year he purchased 245 acres on the south
side of Roanoke from James Wood, and a year later was granted 248 acres on

S . He was an appraiser for the estates of Isaac Bean, Mark Evans,
g nd James Robinson. In 1749 he sold his scattered tracts of
land and began to develop his estate on South Branch called *“Vause’s.” This

consisted of two tracts, 320 and 360 acres, granted December 15, 1749. In 1753
he was made Captain of Horse and was considered an influential man in the
community. For the protection of his family and his neighbors he built on his
place a fort which was attacked by French and Indians in the summer of 1756
and the people in it either killed or taken prisoners. The fort was burned.
Captain Vause himself escaped, because it so happened that he was not in the
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/ took the oath in open court, on Motion of Capt. Andrew Lewis. They Were { tenant of fi

[/ William Pere, Josias Baker, Terrence Sweney, John Shaw, John th, Josepy, of horse; Gt
’] Baxter, Bartholemy Burns, Geo. McSwinie. —\lwusta Orders of Court, Chali. yWilliam Ing
L ley 1, 62. On Ne»
- Washington left Alexandria on April 2, with two companies ang Wag Westcoat, (
joined by Capt. Stephens. horse; Augi
So far as we know there were no enlistments from the Roanoke, Capt. Alexander £
Andrew Lewis went out from Augusta, but he was then living near Stauntg, McFarland,
Col. Fry died on May 31 and Col. Washington received his commang. Stalnaker, (

There were then more than 300 troops. After the unsuccessful engagement By the
Great Meadows July 3, Washington returned from the frontier and in Octobe. from the frc
resigned. He remained at Mt. Vernon until called out by General Braddoc ill-treating ¢
who arrived in Virginia as Commander-in-Chief of all the Military forces j, incursions a
North America, February 20, 1755. plantations .
Fort Cumberland now became headquarters with James Innes in com. rivers. On £

mand. frontier sett

In October, 1754, the General Assembly made provision for enlisting mer forty or fifty

for the service. County to p
and French.

The justices of the peace of every county and corporation, upon appli-

cation made to them by an officer, were empowered to enlist men, to rais 5

and levy such able-bodied men as do not follow or exercise any lawful callinz ;e ing po

o or employment, or have not some other lawful and sufficient support anc Lewis. Foll
maintenance, to serve his Majesty as soldiers in the present expedition. Pa: Augusta on y

was to begin at the time of enlistment. If any were wounded or maimed so a 1_755v when

to be incapable upon their return they were to be supported at public expense eighteen priv

Hening 6, 438. to march to

The pay allowed in money was: Colonel, 15 shillings per day: Liet- who was left

\ tenant Colonel, 12 shillings, 6d; Major, 10 shillings; Captain, 8 shillings: Lieu- for the Len;

! tenant, 4 shillings; Ensign, 3 shillings; Sergeant, 4 shillings; Private, 8d, and= . On Nov
pistole on enlisting. t?t':;{e" coun
Through the s Walk € over
ents alker was ¢

e nfes- on
on tracts of land previous ements of e the southy
. development

tates were being made, conveyvances of land were being recorded, and furthe: >
surveys were being completed. William Preston was busy surveying all tha were apDQMh
summer and continued in the field until the middle of May 1755, when Bﬁ‘“ salary. Dick
dock was well on his way towards Fort Duquesne. Traders were still passins :‘?D Horse
through the valley on their way to the Cherokee posts. Among these ependent -
Richard Pearis whom Gov. Dinwiddie directed to interest the Cherokees I* 17"Gen. Ed
preventing the building of forts by the French in that quarter. N fm:. hHe for
’ The officers of the local militia acting under (ol Patton as (‘mmi,\"LW"' i the who
tenant were: James Campbell, Captain of a company of foot; John 3 Vo, ainder suj
'\Iq'(r of foot; John Buchanan, Col. of horse and foot; David Robinson, Liev- 1. Lette

proceed so a

ements
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ttorney to obtain a title from the heirs of Patterson. In 1758 Erwin Patterson
and his wife, Eleanor, were living in Lunenburg County. In May 1761 he was
dead leaving Margaret Patterson his heir-at-law. Margaret married George
Hannah and had Patterson Hannah who was her only child. William Mec-
Clanahan bought the land described above from George Hannah, and Hannah
purchased from Anderson, the land going to James McClanahan. Patterson
Hannah brought suit for ejectment and obtained a judgment. McClanahan
was granted an injunction, and the case was finally dismissed.

In 1795, George Hannah obtained an inclusive grant for 700 acres of the
Patterson land adjoining the lands of John Johnson, James Mason and William
McClanahan, and in 1799 McClanahan got together 1690 acres on the north
side of the river including 398 acres of Hannah’s 700. This he called the “Long
Meadow ” Survey.

Joseph Cummings made an entry and obtained a survey for a tract of land
on the south side of Roanoke, but died before the patent issued. In August,
1756, John Mason was appointed his administrator.

John Smith, Jr., son of Capt. John Smith, was killed at Fort Vause in June,
1756. The land he owned was on North River of the Shenandoah. This
plantation which he had bought of Silas Hart he gave to his nephew, John
Smith, son of his brother, Daniel. Daniel Smith was his executor with Silas
Hart and Robert Harrison as sureties. =

ﬂ came from New Jersey to the back part of Virginia
“Mstling early on the Roanoke. He owned land on the south side of the river
called Brown’s Bottom and also on Lick Run on the west side of Mason’s
Creek. He was in Captain Robinson’s Company in 1742 and was active in all

the early movements for community roads. It is thought by members of the
family that Henry Brown was married twice, having sons, Henry, Jr., and

S y the first wife an i Y y
t . A thrilling story is told about the family’s defending itself against
the India

when the father was killed.> Henry Brown, Jr., married Alice Beard
and lived in Bedford from the time of his father’s death in 1757. Daniel Brown
remained on the Roanoke ten years longer then went to Bedford. Thomas
Brown married Mary Terry and lived between Peter’s Creek and Mason’s
Creek of the Roanoke. Robert lived on Mason's Creek. Esther married William
Carleton who owned land adjoining her own tract of 54 acres on Lick Run of
Mason’s Creek.

BRYAN MCDONALD, SR.

Bryan McDonald, Sr., of Buffalo Creek of Roanoke, came to Virginia
from Mill Creek Hundred, New Castle County Delaware, about the year 1745.
He was the son of Bryan McDonald (McDonnell) and Mary Combs who came

e

! Mumford’s Reports—18, page 400.
2Prichard, Mead Relations.

SO G
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)qz'mt of foot; Ephraim Vause, Captain of horse; William Robinson, Lieut.

horse; George Robinson, Captain of foot; Abraham Smith, Captain of foot
William Ingles, Captain of foot; Baptist '\IC\MI"H of foot.

On New River were: James Calhoun, Capt. of a troop of horse; Ebenezer
Westcoat, Capt. of a company of foot; Adam Harmon, Capt. of a troop of
horse; Augustine Price, Lieut. of a troop of horse; Jacob Harmon, Ensign;
Alexander ers, Capt. of horse; Robert McFarland, Lieut. of horse; John
McFarland, Ensign; Joseph Crockett, Capt. of a company of foot; Samuel
Stalnaker, Capt. of a company of foot.

By the first of beptember Governor l)m\\lddle was hedrmu ((uupldmts

fr

ill-treating our people. He wrote that the French and Indians were maki
Wmms threatening our people to depart from their
plantat10n~ and proposing to build forts on Holstein’s, Green Brier’s and other
rivers. On September 11 he turned his attention towards the protection of the
frontier settlements. Col. Washington was ordered to give a detachment of
forty or fifty men to Capt. Lewis who was to march immediately to Augusta
County to protect the frontier from the incursions of small parties of Indians
and French. Col. Patton, the County Lieutenant, would direct him where to
proceed so as to be most useful. At the same time specific instructions about
securing provisions and guarding the conduct of the men were sent to Capt.
Lewis. Following these instructions (‘Apt Lewis set out for the frontier of
-\’ELMA on October 6, 1754. He was left in Augusta until after February 12,

, when he was ordered to leave the Ensign, a Sergeant, a corporal, and
eignteen private men at the fort he had built. and with the rest of his company
to march to Winchester and await further orders. To Ensign William Wright
who was left at the fort the Governor sent £20 with which to buy provisions
for the men.—Dinwiddie Papers and Waddell's Annals.

On November 22 Dr. Thomas Walker was appointed Adjutant of the
frontier counties to enlist men when possible for the expedition to the Ohio and
to take over such men as the magistrates might take up for that purpose. Dr.
Walker was at that time promoting the interests of the Loyal Land Company
on the southwestern frontier, and as a private land-owner was interested in the
development of the Roanoke Community. In December he and Charles Dick
were appointed commissaries by the Council, each to receive £200 annually as
salary. Dick was to make the purchases and Dr. Walker to receive them at the
camp. Horses and wagons were to be purchased for transportation, so as to be
independent of farmers’ charges. 0

Gen. Edward Braddock arrived at Hampton in Virginia on February 19,
1755. He formed the Virginia forces into two companies of carpenters chosen
from the whole; four companies of rangers; one company of light horse, and the
remainder suitable to join the two regiments from Ireland.—Dinwiddie Papers,
Vol. 1. Letter to Gov. Dobbs, Page 515.
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he was also Major in the Virginia Regiment under Washington as Commander i

o in-Chief. While the shattered forces of the northern expedition were 1}q; . orris Griff
brought together and new recruits added, the ranging companies were Scouting [ ped. We
on the upper branches of the James and Roanoke Rivers. = ::se visite
THE MEANS OF FRONTIER DEFENSE the I,;glea:z "
For protection in the:se * the inha.bitar_lts of the frontje, ﬁ‘,mCatawl
were to look to the t nies, to private fortifications, to voluntee the head sp!
com] e William, or
The local officers felt that the militia could not be depended upon. Ty determine ju
the Governor thought was due to lack of organization and proper discipline. a5 if there W
However, it was his policy to use the ranging companies and not to call out the 1756, as alre:
militia, except in great extremity. The first step to aid the Roanoke Cop. fifteen miles
munity and the Southwest came when C. is was sent to the frontier o Creek, whic
Augusta County in October, 1 s directe where he could be of Preston refe
most use,WStmct some forti. Shawnee E3
fication at ould leave a group of Men under the command of an parently ref
officer. We do not know how far he went, nor how strong a fortification he spoke of Fou
constructed, nor even where this fortification was. Most students have pre- miles from t
sumed that he was on the Greenbrier or the Roanoke, probably on both. Some eighteen mil
have thought that it was on this occasion that Fort Lewis was built at James of David M

Campbell’s on the Roanoke. This last suggestion is hardly probable, since there

is no reference to a fort at that place until after the summer of 1756, when &
~ line of forts for the protection of the frontier was proposed. This tour of On Jul
Capt. Lewis’s did good in that it was a recognition of danger on the part of the that you o
government and an effort at relief. Gov. Dinwiddie, however, thought that the 1 congratule
people were inclined to feel helpless and unwilling to defend their own property. Col. Dunbay
The earliest record we have of a private fortification is the reference made To Gov. Di
by the minister to the building of a fort around the house at Looney’s Ferry. Cumberlanc
~ where the families of the neighborhood had fled for safety. Major Smith was_ will make a:
| there and as agent for the land company was interested in protecting the Asa post-sc
[ settlement from the Tnroads of the Iﬁdﬁhs. This was being done, because of deavor to
the danger threatened by Braddock’s defeat. three comps
—" After the massacre at Draper’s Meadows no one in that region felt safe. lh}it immed
This occurred just over the divide from the Roanoke and the victims were left their pl
friends and neighbors to the settlers on North Fork. Ephraim Vause lived oo safety, “Al
. the main road from South Branch of Roanoke to New River where the valley be on the d
" closes in and the trail starts over the mountain. He had been Captain of companies
Troop of Horse since 1753 and was a recognized leader in the community. -'“ 2 company
his own expense he now erected a stockade fort for the protection of his family Sompany of
and neighbors. This fort was at an important pass and served a good purpos¢ Smith; with
[ through the fall and winter of 1755. But when an attack was made on it in 1756 of your Fro
\./ it proved insecure, because of an inadequate force. This fort was built before 2 great Ex:
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August 12, 1755, for in the list of prisoners taken in the period of the war

r\Morris Griffith is listed as a prisoner taken at Vause’s Fort at that date and
escaped. We know that he was a prisoner at one time and that he and Captain
Vause visited the Governor in the interest of a volunteer expedition against
the Indians.

The one other place known to be fortified before 1756 was the pass leading
from Catawba to the head branches of the Roanoke forming Tinker Creek and
the head springs of Looney’s Mill Creek. This fortification was called Fort
William, or Preston’s Fort, sometimes the Fort at Catawba. It is hard to
determine just where it stood. References are made to forts in that community
as if there were different forts at different times. Fort William was reported in
1756, as already built, Washington spoke of it as the fort at the head of Catawba
fifteen miles from Looney’s Ferry. He may have meant at the head of Mill
Creek, which would have made the distance about right. In 1756 Capt.
Preston referred to the fort there as Preston’s Fort, and in his journal of the
Shawnee Expedition he said that he set out from Fort Prince George ap-
parently referring to this fort. In one of his letters in 1756 Andrew Lewis
spoke of Fort William as built by William Preston. This fort was to be twenty
miles from the mouth of John’s Creek, fifteen miles from Looney’s Ferry and
eighteen miles from Bryan’s near James Campbell’s. It was at or near the home
of David Mitchell on a south branch of Catawba.

THE RANGING COMPANIES

A\ OnlJ uly 25th Gov. Dinwiddie wrote to Col. Washington, “I am glad
that you came off safe without any wound after your gallant behavior, on which
I congratulate you. Have ordered three companies of rangers to the frontiers.
Col. Dunbar will not march into winter quarters and leave the frontiers open.”
To Gov. Dobbs he said, “The forces that remained are all returned to Fort
Cumberland. Col. Dunbar now commands them under Gen. Shirley. If he
will make another attempt, I can promise him 500 men in less than a month.”
As a post-script he added, “It is natural to believe that those banditti will en-
deavor to rob and murder our frontier settlements. I have therefore ordered
three companies of rangers out.” To Sir Thomas Robinson he wrote, August 7, .
that immediately on Col. Dunbar’s March a great many of our back settlers
left their plantations and crops on the ground and came down the country for
«safety. ““All I can do at present is to complete the companies raised here and
be on the defensive in guarding the frontiers where I have-already sent three
companies of rangers, besides other men.” To(Col. John Buchanan, {*There is
a company of fifty men from Lunenburg to come into yéur county; Your own
company of Rangers of fifty men; another company of 40 to be raised by Capt.
Smith; with Capt. Lewis’ company, I think will be sufficient for the Protection
of your Frontiers, without calling out the militia, which is not to be done till
a great Extremity.” His letter to Major Smith @Mﬁwmﬁ_@ﬁ,

m
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GO\ Dinw 1ddle s Arrangement for Pronslons for the E\nedltmn
Jwamct the Shawnee Indians

August 11th, is of special interest to us. “Col. Patton had my positive orders
to appoint you commander of the Company of Rangers raised in your county:
how he came not to obey it, I know not, however, you may raise forty me™
which with the company commanded by Captain Preston and a company from
Lunenburg of 50 men that have orders to march immediately to your assistanc
I conceive will be sufficient to scour the woods of the enemy and encoufav‘
vour people to return to their plantations, and then I think you will not want
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he militia.” And to Col. Buchanan, “Col. Patton had my order to appoint
ﬁ[ajor Smith to command the first Company of Rangers, but I find he did not
do it, however he is now appointed Captain of the Second Company.”

On August 13th a commission was issued to Nathaniel Terry to be Captain
of a Company of Rangers raised in the county of Lunenburg to scour the fron-
tiers, kill and destroy every such Indian and others as shall at any time or any
where insult or maltreat his Majesty's good subjects, or have an apparent
tendency thereto.

On the fourteenth a similar commission was issued to Samuel Overton to
command a Company of Volunteers from Hanover County.

On the twentieth Capt. John Phelps was commissioned to command a
Company of Rangers to be raised in Bedford County.

The captains of these companies were instructed to proceed with all
expedition to annoy and destroy the enemy, both French and Indians in
alliance with them, wherever found; to keep harmony among themselves and
assist any other company when needed; to offer no offence to friendly Indians;
to be careful of the powder and ball; to take thorough view of the country and
every Important incident and such convenient place for erecting a fort as may
be met with.

It was at this time that a bounty of £5 was offered as a reward for the

To Major Lewis he wrote that Captain Preston and Captain Smith

rangers ‘“are to be at no place.”
7™\ He told Capt. Preston to remain on duty until Xmas when he would be

ac peace and quietness until spring. The grain on the ground that is forsaken
by the inhabitants might be gathered up for the rangers. In this emergency it
was in order to press tools for the building of forts. Lead could be had by their
sending for it as other people did.—Dinwiddie Papers Vol. IL, 100 to 200.

From this time Capt. Preston was under the command of Major Andrew
Lewis as County Lieutenant. Effective service was done by these rangers
along the Roanoke and Catawba Valleys through the fall and winter months
of 1755. In addition to these companies mentioned there were other companies
along the Northwestern frontier. Capt. John Dickenson had charge of the line
along the lower Jackson’s River and the Cowpasture and Capt. Peter Hogg at
Fort Dinwiddie farther up. Fort Dinwiddie was garrisoned in 1755.

scalp of enemy Indians. —
as

THE MILITIA

While arrangement was being made for the protection of the frontiers
through the vigilance of the Companies of Rangers the militia was not over-
looked. Col. Buchanan had said that they could not be depended on and
would not obey orders. Whereupon the Governor replied that it was obvious
that they had not been properly disciplined. or under proper command, which
on refusal, should have been punished according to law.—————He had done
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any except such as have had an opportunity of knowing it. By Bedford couny, §
house in one week ’tis said, and I believe truly said, near 300 inhabitams("
this colony passed on their way to Carolina. From all the upper COUntje
even those on this side of the Blue Hills, great numbers are daily following "

On December 14 Gov. Dinwiddie addressed the following letter tq Co.
Washington:—“The Cherokees have taken up the hatchet against the Shyy.
nese and French and have sent 130 ¢

pare to march immediately to attag
and cut off the Shawnese in their towp,
I desire they shall be joined with thre
companies of rangers and Capt. Hogg's
company, and I propose Col. Stephe;
or Major Lewis to be commander of the
party on this expedition. Col. Pete.
Randolph and Col. Wm. Byrd are going
commissioners to the Catawbas ané
Cherokees with a handsome present ¢
confirm our interest and to prevail witt
them to send a number of their warrion
to our assistance in the spring.”—Dir-
widdie Papers, Vol. II, 291-292.

Major Lewis, being at Winchester
when the Governor’s letter came tc
hand, was immediately dispatched by
Washington to Augusta to take command of the troops destined against the
Shawnese Town. He thought this scheme would likely prove abortive as he
had heard that those Indians were removed up the river into the neighborhooc
of Fort Duquesne. It was necessary to act defensively.—Washington to Din-
widdie, January 14. Ford—220.

Major Lewis was commissioned to command the forces on this expeditior
and was sent blank commissions for other officers to be filled out as necessary
He was to consult with Pearis about people to attend the Indians. Ther
would likely be about 350 men. And it would probably take no longer thar
six weeks. Every man could carry five days allowance in bread, of wheat of
corn flour.

Suggestions were given to Captains Hogg, Woodson, Smith and Prestor-
Woodson and Smithswere referred to as “old woodsmen.” “Hogg was to mke‘
their advice. Smith was to take sixty men from his own and Preston’s compar®

and Preston to command the remainder.-A supply of 150 small arms. 10 lb‘fi
gunpowder, 455 shot and 91 blankets for the Indians was ‘‘sent UP'-V_
Major Lewis was to see about clothing, etc. Col. David Stewart was comms*

~sary and Lieut. William Fleming, surgeon.
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The different companies came together through the Roanoke Valley to
/\okard Bottom on New River, the place of rendezvous, where they were to
meet the Indians. The fortification there was called Fort Frederick. Capt.
Preston said that he left Fort Prince George on February 9th with two Lieu-
tenants, 2 Sergeants, 3 Corporals and 25 Privates. He had one waggon load of
dry beef weighing 2000 lbs. The first day he traveled 15 miles and lodged at
the home of Francis Cyphers, on Roanoke, and early on Tuesday morning,
being the 10th, he proceeded as far as Richard Hall’s, about 15 miles. The
next day he marched to New River, followed closely by Capt. Hogg’s company.
As they marched by the Cherokee Camp they saluted the Indians by firing off
guns, which was returned by them with great joy, and a war dance followed.
Thursday they heard a sermon at Capt. Woodson’s Camp preached by Rev.
Mr. Brown. The next day Major Lewis reviewed the troops, which numbered
about 840, including the Indians. Rev. Mr. Craig preached a military sermon.
Major Lewis gave Captain’s Commissions to two_head Cherokee Warriors—
named “Yellow Bird” and “Round O.”"0On the next Sunday James Burk
brought word that Robert Looney was killed near Alexander Sawyers’ and he
had himself one horse shot and five taken away by the Shawnee Indians.
wwson marched from the fort in order to range the woods

about Reed aW&én. Capt. Hogg’s company and
Major Lewis titarchied out on Wednesday afternoon.

Capt. Preston himself left Fort Frederick at 10 o’clock on Thursday 19th
with 27 loaded pack horses. He got to William Sawyers’ and camped on his
bpNfloor. The next morning he “switched’’ one of the soldiers for swearing
wi..h incensed the Indian chiefs present. As they advanced to Alexander
Sawyers’ they met the Indians who had gone out with the first division and
lost some of their own. The Indians that deserted them were persuaded to
return by Major Lewis and Capt. Pearis who found them at Col. Buchanan’s.
The next day, Sunday, was spent in marching 7 miles to John McFarland’s. In
their march over the mountain to Bear Garden on Monday they lost sundry
horses. One more day and 9 miles brought them to Burke’s Garden where they
found plenty of potatoes which the soldiers gathered in the deserted planta-
tions. From Burke’s Garden they passed over the mountains by the head of
Clinch River and reached the head of Sandy Saturday afternoon. From
frequent crossing of the creek made troublesome by recent heavy rains some
of the horses broke down under their loads and were left. From signs of Indians
traveling and hunting it was thought that Stalnaker and the prisoners taken
with him were carried that way. They soon came into coal land where there
were more signs of enemy Indians. Here the troops were put on half rations.
The march was now greatly retarded, because the mountains closed in on them
from both sides of the river and each man had only a half pound of flour and
no meat, except what could be killed. Many horses wandered off and could
not be found. The river was so deep and had to be crossed so often that both
men and horses almost expired. The Captain lost his fourth horse.
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he absence of Major Lewis. In this capacity he would be the commander of
o kuausta Militia. Major Lewis was to enlist 60 men, many tradesmen that
i‘e]'d Sse the saw and axe, their pay being what he thought proper. The
T\u_erllgr sent £700 to purchase 100 beeves to drive along and the horses
“ow‘e«arv to carry provisions and tools. He arranged to take 10,000 Ibs. of
?-:u; The supplies were to be collected at Roanoke and when ready the men
:en‘ to march to Chota in the Cherokee country. The Indians there were to
Laderstand that they had come from Virginia at very great expense to assist
 building a fort.—Andrew Lewis to Dinwiddie—Preston Papers 1QQ 131-
133 and 136. Dinwiddie to Lewis—Dinwiddie Papers Vol. 2, 390.

" \arch 80,1756, A Petition of the Inhabitants of Augusta setting forth
.nat because of many acts of violence committed on the inhabitants of that and
~eighboring counties, many of the families who have survived their barbarities
.ave removed their effects out of this Government and others daily continue
.o do so. And since this is due chiefly to the defenceless state of the frontiers
shere there are but few strongholds, for the protection of the back inhabitants
ymainst the incursions and depredations of the savages, and since there is no
—ethod can so certainly and with little expense, secure them against a repe-
“tion of these heavy cruelties as a chain of forts extended quite across the
~vuntry for their present defence and establishing a fair trade and cultivating
s iriendship with the several Indian nations upon and to the westward of the
River Ohio; the said petitioners pray that such a chain of forts may be erected
12d an Indian Factory established at such places, under such direction, and
asuch methods as to this house shall appear most conducive to guard against
“ture mischief, to promote the success of the common cause, and restore
nquility and security to the inhabitants of this colony.—Journals of the
douse of Burgesses 1756-1758, Page 349.

This petition followed the report of the unsuccessful expedition against
¢ Shawnees. The letter of Major Andrew Lewis, dated at Roanoke March
%th. inclosing a copy of the minutes of a council of war held at Sandy Creek
athe 15th of March, reached the Governor soon after the news of the return
o was presented to the house on April 6th. A committee was appointed to
*auire into the conduct of the officers and men.—Journals 1756-58, Page 356.
P April 9, 1756. Claims against the country for services rendered came in.—

2atles Anderson and William Boyd represented that they had each of them a
*3gon with their horses and drivers impressed to carry goods for the soldiers
N ort Frederick; That the petitioner Anderson’s team was employed in the
.:““?23 days, and the said William Boyd’s 25 days, and that they provided
™ their said horses and drivers during the time they were so employed and
x]! ot yet received any satisfaction for the same.—Journals 1756-58, Page

April 15, 1756. The committee appointed to inquire into the conduct of
Oficers and men employed in the late expedition against the Shawnees
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~ m reported that they had examined several witnesses and agreed that Majee
Andrew Lewis, who commanded the expedition, discharged his duty wit}:
integrity and resolution, and that the ill success thereof was entirely owing
the refractory and mutinous behavior of Captain Obadiah Woodson Johy
/ %%i’t};}and John Montgomery, who commanded the volunteers, and ¢
olunteers. Whereupon it was ordered that an address be made to the Gover.
\ nor to desire that his Honor would be pleased to stop the pay of the sai¢
| ‘Woodson, Smith and Montgomery, and that the officers may never more be
// employed as officers in his Majesty’s service.—Journals 1756-58, 369.
/ April 20, 1756. The House provided £20,000 for expenses in building th,
/ Fort in the Cherokee country and desired that Major Andrew Lewis ane
/ Captain Samuel Overton be appointed to manage and overlook the buildin,
/ of the fort. Journal 1756-58, 372. ;
September 23, 1758. In reference to the action of the House in regard t
the conduct of Captain Smith, Captain Woodson and Captain Montgomerr
while on the Shawnee Expedition, Captain Smith represents that he had ./
opportunity of clearing up his conduct at the time of the censure, being at 1
great distance on the Frontiers, but when he heard it, he waited on the Gove-
nor and so far satisfied him of his innocence that he was pleased to conting:
him in the service. He now has witnesses in town that would fully clear hir
of any misbehavior on that Expedition.
Upon hearing these witnesses the committee reported that the said Smit:
N never shewed any backwardness to proceed in the Expedition or encouraged
any mutiny or Desertion, but on the contrary endeavored to prevent his mez
from deserting, by encouraging them with the hopes of an open country beirs
near, and that after his men had turned back, he declared he was willing t
proceed on with ten men, provided the Cherokee Indians would go with hiz
It was resolved that the said J 9]&5/3}@_ did not misbehave himself in tbe
said Expedition against the Shawnee Indians, and that he ought to receir
,\,\/his pay.

" Ordered that the committee appointed to settle the militia accounts make
an allowance to the said J. %}(g%n‘i/th for his pay during his service in the sx
Expedition.—Journals 175561, Pages 20 and 26. .

In the case of Obediah Woodson against the House for censuring b*
conduct on the Shawnee Expedition, the committee came to the con(“ll{»"‘“
that the ill-success of the expedition was occasioned by the want of provisio™
and that the said Woodson did not behave himself in such a manner as ¥
officer ought to have done. October 9, 1758.—Journal 1758-61, Page 37.

William Fleming reported that in the year 1755 he had received 8 cor
mission as ensign in David Bell’s company, and in pursuance of orcler.S g
Col. Washington recruited a number of men and subsisted them at his oﬂ;

expense; ten of which, in their march to the county of Augusta, deserted 3%
were never afterwards retaken; for which reason Col. Washington in setth®
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ecruiting accounts, refused to make any allowance for the deserters;—he
:d to be reimbursed by the public for this expense, which amounted to
£35/13ﬁT0 which the House agreed.—Journals 1758-61, Page 161.

An item of expense for provisions for the troops on this expedition is
shown in a receipt of John Smith to John Bingeman on New River for beef.—
“Received of John Bingeman 861 weight of beef for use of my company and thel
Cherokee Indians at 10/ per C., £4/6/814, and more to cash upon the samm
account, 18/, per me. John Smith.”—Chalkley I, 486.

April 21, 1756. Richard Pearis represented that he was ordered by the
Governor last September to go to the Cherokee Nation in order to bring a
number of them to the assistance of this Colony; That he was there much
impeded in his solicitations by the North Carolina traders, who endeavored to
persuade the Indians that he only wanted them to hunt till they got deer-skins
enough to pay him a debt they owed him of 2586 lbs. deer-leather; upon which,
to remove all doubt, the petitioner told them he would forgive them the debt
and burn his books, which he accordingly did; and thereupon 82 of their
warriors marched with him and joined Major Lewis in the expedition against
the Shawnees.

Upon consideration of this petition the committee which had it in charge
reported that the said Richard Pearis should be allowed the sum of £100 to-
wards reimbursing his loss.—Journals, Pages 379, 381.

John Allen represented that he accompanied Mr. Pearis to the Cherokee
Najjon and that he lost his horse worth eight Pistoles and that he also lately
lof the service a pair of Pistols.

Samuel Overton and James Gunn said that they were sent out upon the —-
late intended expedition against the Shawnees and that before their return, they
each of them had lost their guns and several other things of considerable value.

On information of Major Lewis there were not arms enough provided for
the people that went on the expedition. Mr. Overton carried two guns that he
borrowed, one of which was lost by a canoe’s oversetting in crossing a river and
the other was, by the direction of Major Lewis, given to an Indian Warrior.

Mr. Gunn carried with him a valuable gun which was lost.

Mr. Overton left his horse, bridle and saddle with a sick man who has not
been heard of since. John Allen left his horse at Fort Frederick when he went
on the Expedition and could not find him on his return.

Samuel Overton ought to be allowed £8/1,3 for his two guns and the sum
of £18 for his horse, saddle and bridle.

James Gunn, the sum of £5/7/6 for his gun, and £8 for horse.

John Allen, nothing for his horse.

Alexander Mackie furnished Captain Woodson, Smith and Pearis with

| sundry necessaries for the expedition. He should be paid £103/14/2 for goods
| furnished and the hire of two wagons from John Thompson for the use of the
expedition.
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N Robert Donald, by order of the Governor, supplied Capt. John Smit}, Wit}
| sundry goods to the value of £80, 2,6 for the use of the men who marched Under

Smith. ¢
— Robert Hastie produced an account against Major Lewis for sundry 4
Goods delivered him at Fort Frederick.

Thomas Donald produced an account against Capt. William Prestop g,,.
goods delivered him at Fort Frederick—£63/2/1—Part of it against .L,‘hi
_ Smith.

1757. Alexander Mackie supplied Capt. Smith (who was appointed to t},.
command of Vauses Fort in Augusta) with powder and other goods for the .,
of the soldiers under him.—Journals Page 439.

r

THE ATTACK ON VAUSE'S FORT

We do not know when Major Lewis started to the Cherokee country. |:
must have been late in June or early in July. While the companies were broke;
up and the new arrangement was being made th iz < ady: :

ccurred on June 25tk
Major E in the county, for he wrote to Gover-
nor Dinwiddie telling him about the affair. He said, “Captain Vause has beer
a very great Sufferer by the late unhappy affair, his Wife & two Daughters tw.
Servants & one negro, all either killed or taken Prisoners, his Fort (Raised a:
his own Expense) and Barn with the other Buildings on his Plantation Burne:
to Ashes and above eighty heads of Cattle & Horses killed and carried away.”—
Preston Papers 1QQ131-133.

1 the 2nd of July the minister at the Moravian Settlement in Nort:
Carolina recorded in his Diary the following statement:— Received news tha:
in Virginia, near the Roanoke, the Indians had attacked the fort which a mar
built around his house, and as the fort was not strongly manned, and the
powder gave out, they had captured it, killed everybody in it, and burned thf
fort. A Dunkard shortly came and confirmed the report and asked that severa.
families might come to us for protection. This privilege was granted. It wa:
decided to build a palisade around the house for protection against the
Indians. Palisades were finished on July 23rd.”—Fries—Records of the Me-
ravians in North Carolina, Vol. 1—

ing and capturing many

LETTER FROM WILLIAM PRESTON
DESCRIBING THE ATTACK ON VAUSE’S FORT, 1756
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vill not admit of any alteration. I shall give you a short Relation of some
rbarities Committed by the Indians within these few Days. On ye 16th Inst.
a small party of Indians appeared at Ft. Vause and there being only 4 or 5 men
in the Fort they could not go out to give the Enemy Battle, about two miles
from that Place the Indians met with a white man & took him Prisoner who
wounded one of the Enemy as they took him. They carried him to a camp
which they had in a Gap of a Mountain beyond New River & they kept him
three days During which one of the Indians that could speak English informed
him that they were 4—Runners Dispatched af 5 ker: and were im-
mediately to be followed by alarge Company (ulder the command
of Capt. Babbee (a Frenchman) who were determined to drive all this Country,
that they had been three Days \'ie\ving the Forts of Preston and Vause & was
an\lou» to know the number of men in Each.
“On ye 19th Inst. the Prisoner with two of ye Indians came to the House
of one Evan Neall where they killed 8 hogs for the company against their
arrival & while they were Busied washing their Tomahawks at a Branch the /
Pr. Seized a horse & a gun & made his Escape & gave the above acct. upon <
Oath. On ye 22 I got Returns from Wmsburg & next day (In Obedience to his
Honr the Governor’s Orders) I discharged my Company a few Hours after I
Recd an Express from Capt. Smith that the Indians apeared at Fort Vause &
he was afraid of being attacked & had but 8 or 10 men & begged some assistance
which I was not able to give as my men were Dispersed. Ye 25th I had gathered |
18 of my men which with some militia the whole amounting to 47 men we
™ched off to assist Capt. Smith. By 8 oClock in the afternoon within 8 miles |
o1 vause we met with a Servant Man belonging to Capt. Vause who gave the '/
following account on Oath, viz: That on the 25th Instant he (the Deponent) £8
being at two miles distant from the Fort had notice that it was attacked by a | {
large number of Indians on hearing the news he with Six more Repaired thither /
that coming in view of the Fort he stopped, being out Run by the other six who
Run within 100 yards of the Fort & fired twice on the Enemy. That he see
the Fort attacked by a large number of Indians about 10 oclock, that he see
them sett the Fort on Fire & some Cabbins joining it, that the House where | i3
Capt. Smith with Vause’s Family were in was not burned untill 4 oclock in the | it
afternoon:” That the next morning he came to the place & see the houses, Fort, | ¢
ete. in ashes and about one hour before we met him he had been among the
Ruins & see part of a Human Body which had been burned, & it is generally
Believed that all the men in the Fort (but 7 in number) were killed and burned,
there is 24 Persons killed and missing. This unhappy affair with the Scarcity i
and Backwardness of men has so Intimidated those Poor People that above {
150 Families have already Removed from their Plantations and many more

are Preparing to leave.”:

Samuel Stalnaker had been captured on June 18th, 1755, and had escaped.—Preston’s Register.
2Draper Mss. Preston Papers, 1 QQ 134, 135.
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According to Preston’s Register those killed, wounded or taken prisoners
at Vause s I‘ort were —Capt John bmlth pnsoner, returned Peter Loone\
William Pepper, prlsoner, Mrs. Vause, her two daughters a negro, t\so yoﬁng
Indians and a man-servant, prisoners, James Bell, prisoner; Christopher
Hicks, prisoner; Benjamin Davis, prisoner; Lleut John Smith, killed; John
Tracy, killed; John English, killed; Mrs. Mary Er Envllsh, prisoner; William
Robinson, wounded; Thomas Robinson, wounded; John Robinson, killed;
John Walker, prisoner;—Cole, prisoner;—Graham, prisoner.t
~ Thomas Callaway came from Hickey’s Fort and found the mangled
bodies lying in heaps. All of Vause’s family, he thought, killed, except a
daughter, Levice, and two sons who had gone to mill that day. He followed the
Indians over the mountains and down the Leevice Fork of Kentucky, crossing
the Ohio River at Leevice Ford near Cincinnati. Leevice Vause carried that
way had put her name on the bark of sycamore and beech trees and given her
name to the streams of that region. After the peace of 1763 she returned home
and related the story of her travels to the Callaways and others. She had seen
her family’s scalps hung out to dry and their clothes torn off until the skins of
animals were needed to take their places.?

MARY INGLES REPORT

A petition of Mary Ingles setting forth That in the year 1756 she was with
her husband in Fort Vaux in Augusta, when he was killed and she was carried
into captivity by the Indians, among whom she was barbarously treated, and
on her return into the Colony, she found her home and whole effects burned,
and thereby reduced to the utmost distress, since which she has been supported
entirely by the charitable contributions of the well-disposed, and praying relief
of the House, was read and rejected.s

PETER LUNEY'S STATEMENT

Peter Luney said that he was a sergeant in Vause’s Fort in Augusta when
it surrendered and he lost his horse and several other goods to a considerable
value, and also suffered great hardships during his captivity at Fort Detroit,
whither he was carried a prisoner.

The committee having this under consideration reported that the said
Peter Luney was in a detachment appointed to garrison Fort Vause and had
taken there an horse of the value of £7, which was employed in bringing meal
and other necessaries to the garrison, and also had a saddle and a bridle of the
value of fifty shillings, and a rifle gun of the value of £4 ten shillings; That the
said Peter Luney behaved well in the defence of the fort, and received a wound

1Preston Register, Chalkley II, 511.
2Draper MSS. 5DD20.
This was the wife of John Ingles, not William.
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#=in his shoulder, and was taken prisoner and kept in captivity about a year, the
enemy taking from him the things above mentioned and wearing apparel to the
value of five pounds. He should receive £46/16 from the public as a recom-
pense for his losses and as reward for his bravery in defending Vause’s Fort.:

May 9, 1757. Among other evidences of losses in this engagement are:

Two claims of Jacob Kent, for provisions by him found for the use of a
party of his Majesty’s Forces, and for sundry goods by him lost in the engage-
ment at Vaule’s Fort in Augusta.

William Robinson built by contract a causeway at Vause’s and died.
Money paid to Margaret, his widow,—Chalk. 1, 130.

A claim of Thomas Campbell, for Coopers work for the use of Capt. John
Smith’s Company.

A claim of David Wilson, for sundry goods by him lost at Vaulx's Fort in
Augusta.

A claim of Elnathan Davis, for sundry goods by him lost at said fort.

A claim of Susanna Patton, for provisions for the use of said Capt. Smith’s
company.

A claim of Edward Mackdonald for the same service.

A claim of John Mackecurry for the same service.

A claim of Capt. William Preston, for pay for himself and a party of
rangers under his command in Augusta, were severally received.—Journals of
the H. of B. 1756-58, 458, 459.

.~ June 3, 1757. The House having under consideration for the claims of
ctain irregular claims without proper vouchers referred the same to such :
persons as the House should think proper to appoint, and resolved that it be an
instruction to such persons not to allow Captains and Lieutenants more than
half pay, where their companies consist of less than forty men. And that
clerks and artificers employed by Captains or lieutenants, be allowed only as
soldiers, except such artificers as were absolutely necessary.»

Among these accounts were the claims of Lieut. James McGavock, Capt.
Robert Breckenridge, Capt. Samuel Stalnaker.—Journal of the House of Bur-
gesses 1756-58, 484. ‘7‘

April 4, 1758. John Smith presented a claim that in the year 1755 he was |
appointed Captain of a company of rangers, and continued in the service until {
he was made a prisoner in 1756; and that he expended large sums of his own |
money in purchasing provisions and other necessaries for his company, but l
being taken prisoner had no opportunity of applying to have his accounts
settled till this time. =0

April 12, 1758. The committee to whom this petition was referred reported \
that it appears that the said John Smith was appointed a Captain of a com- 5
pany of Rangers, by commission bearing date the 25th of May, 1756, and

SEeate
1Journal House of Burgesses, 1758-1761, 221, 229. /
2Journal House of Burgesses, 1756-1758, 502.
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taken prisoner the 25th of June following, at Vause’s Fort, that he had several
of his own guns there, which were made use of in the defence of the fort, an
horse employed in going to mill, a mare which he rode thither a few days
before, and several other things, all which were taken by the enemy in the
reduction of the fort, and that he has but lately returned from his captivity.—
He ought to be allowed the sum of £15/10, being ten shillings per day, for his
pay as captain from the date of his commission to the time of his captivity;
and the further sum of £100 for the arms and other things furnished for the
use of the fort, and as a reward for his bravery in the defence thereof.:

MEMORIAL OF JOHN SMITH

April 3, 1758. A memorial of John Smith, late a captain of a company of
rangers on the frontiers of this colony, had been read in council and referred to
the House, setting forth, That in June, 1756 the said Smith then in Fort Vauss,
in Augusta, with a small party, was attacked by the enemy, which (after having
defended it till he had but three men left) he was at length obliged to sur-
render: That the Enemy then most inhumanly murdered his eldest son before
his face, and carried him prisoner to the Shawnese Towns and French Forts, and
from thence to Quebec, where he was put on board a Cartel ship and carried
to England. That from the observations he made, while a prisoner, he is of
opinion that a small party of men (about 800) might, if properly conducted,
easily destroy those Indian Towns and perhaps some of the French Forts.—
That while he was in England he had the honor to be introduced to Mr.
Secretary Pitt, to whom he communicated his observations, who highly ap-
proved his scheme, and recommended him to Lord Loudon to encourage him
and promote such an enterprise.—That he has lost three sons and great part of
his fortune in the service of his country, and that being still ready and zealous
for his majesty’s Service, and well acquainted with the Route necessary to be
taken to distress the Enemy in those parts, he humbly offers himself to under-
take such an Expedition if it should be approved of.

The said memorial was ordered to lie on the table for the perusal of the

&mbers of this House.—Journals 1756~58, page 499.

A CHAIN OF FORTS TO BE ERECTED

As early as February, 1756, while Major Lewis was on the Shawnee
Expedition, Governor Dinwiddie recommended to the Lords of Trade that
forts be built along the ridge of the Alleghany Mountains at passes through
which the country was accessible. The frontiers to the westward were 300
miles from north to south and 200 miles from the westernmost settlements to
any part of the colony that’s tolerably peopled.

On March 19th the assembly acted on his recommendation.—And

1Journal of the House of Burgesses, 1756~175%, 505. (The representatives from Augusta in this Assembly
were John Wilson and Israel Christian.)
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a Snodgrass girl, of Catawba. This shows that in spite of the presence of
soldiers the lives of the people were in danger.

After the Cedar Creek raid Col. Buchanan strengthened the fortificationg
at Looney’s Ferry by building Fort Fauquier naming it for the new Governor,
His company and headquarters became a rallying place for his former frieng,
and neighbors of New River and Reed Creek. Alexander Sayers was suggesteq
for his first Lieutenant and William Ingles for ensign. Ingles was made 5
lieutenant and did active service at the fort.

THE TURNING POINT—1758

Through the summer of 1758 the Roanoke maintained about the same
posture of defense as had been maintained through the previous year. In
March the General Assembly found it necessary to increase the forces in the
pay of the colony. Hence, they were augmented to two thousand men, ex-
clusive of the rangers. The new forces might be sent out of the colony, or
attached to the King’s armies or other forces sent to our assistance. The
rangers were assigned to the frontier for its protection and were not to be
sent out of the colony nor incorporated with the soldiers in the King’s army.
In September an appropriation of £1500 was made to continue the first regi-
ment from December 1st, when their time was up, to May 1st, 1759, provided
that the said regiment should be stationed in small parties upon the frontiers
and be employed in ranging. At this time provision was also made to pay the
several companies of militia drawn into actual service, and to settle accounts
for provisions of the soldiers and of the Indians who came to the assistance of
the colony and for the damage done by those Indians.>

In the summer Major Lewis was called to Winchester to Join Washing-
ton’s division in General Forbes’ capture of Fort Duquesne. This left Captains
Preston and Dickenson on Jackson’s River and the Bull Pasture with head-
quarters at Forts George, Dickenson and Young; Col. John Buchanan on the
James River at Fort Fauquier; Capt. Woodward at Fort Vause and Capt.
Hogg with his rangers to guard the southwest gaps. In addition to these
forces Capt. Alexander Sayers did active service with a troop of horse, and
CMmlth re@urned from captivity with such enthusiasm and courage
as to want to go against the w vhole Shawnese nation with two hundred men.’

) In a misdirected effort to help us Capt. Robert Wade led a company of
" rangers from the Mayo across the Ridge to New River and incidentally fell
upon a party of friendly Indians that was passing through, thus getting hml:f‘lf
into trouble and doing the cause no good. In the late fall Col. William Byrd

1Francis Fauguier, who suceeded Robert Dinwiddie as governor of Virginia in January 1739, was the 08 &
Dr. John Francis Fauquier of the Bank of England. Before coming to Virginia he was a director of the South
Company. He had the satisfaction of seeing the French and Indian War brought to & close. After a long illaess
“\died in 1768 and was buried in the church at Williamsburg. He left two sons, Francis and William Fauquier-
\ :Hening, 7, 172-173.
 3Memorial to House of Burgesses, April 3, 1758. Legislative Journal 3, 1183.
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guthorized to recruit men for the Second Virginia Regiment and later to
2 compaign for the relief of Fort Loudon in Tennessee, which was being
pesieged by the recently hostile Cherokees. The fall of Fort Duquesne marked
ke turning point in the war at the north and the preparation for Col. Byrd’s
his former frieg B edition against the Cherokees drew the Virginia forces towards the Roanoke
yers was sugg s the place of rendezvous. Through the winter of 1758 and the year 1759 the
ngles was m . v of the movement of the troops and the life of the settlement is told in the
Element of accounts “against the Country” rendered by the officers of the
2 anty and regiment and the resident population.

f the presencel

:d about the : g THE SETTLEMENT OF ““ACCOUNTS AGAINST THE COUNTRY,” 1758-1759

previous year.
e the forces ing

B There are three principal sources of information about services rendered
B the militia and ranging companies and provisions provided for them. One
thousand men} the schedule of pay allowed by the General Assembly in September, 1758,
. of the colony] d printed in the seventh volume of Hening’s Statutes at Large; another is
r assistance. e receipts of men for pay for service, losses or provisions, given to William
nd were not tg Preston and preserved among his papers in the Draper Manuscript Collection
1 the King’s arg j{ the State Historical Society of Wisconsin and published as the Virginia and
:inue the first ré Freston Papers; and the third source is in claims against the country and cases

Ist 9, prov R court published in Chalkley’s Abstracts of Augusta County Records, Orders
up. . the frontl K Court, ete.

o made to pa@ ” From these records we give here only such items as belong to the Roanoke
| to settle accod are associated with men who had some part in the development of this part

io the assistang the country. Other names and items are given only as they are grouped

9 pth those we want. In this record we get a pretty good idea of the kind of
+ to Join Washg are the people waged and the only information we have as to the actual
This left Caj Brvice rendered.

?asture with v' : PAY OF MILITIA AND FOR PROVISIONS ALLOWED BY THE ASSEMBLY, 1758
1 Buchanan ';, 0 Captain Alexander Sayers, To Rhoda Evans, for provisions  £3/ 0/ 0
‘ Vau’s? and his pay and the pay of To William Ralston, service 9

addition to &8 %S officers and company of AYS. . ivee et £0/ 9/ 0

roop of horsé ilitia to the last of August. . £246/14/ 3 To David Cloyd, for provisions

siasm and coul B9 Captain Abraham Smith. .. 5/8~  forIndiams................ £8/16/ 7
vo hundred me 5 _ébraham Smith for pro- "~ To John Miller (Catawba)
, led a compal BVBONS, .o e s i BERVIEE) surys s avsrvsgpevenopora £0/51/ 0

<

g Abraham Smith for Lieus %, To George Robinson for pro-
e N £12/ 0/ 0  visions...........ooienns £0/13/ 4

ad incidentally

hus getting D 4 dbraham Smith for Lieu- = y To Bryan McDonald, assignee
Col. William & h‘"‘“t ................... £9/ 0/ 0/ of Joshua McCormick, for a
3 : ,Abmham Smith for horse A horse, horse-hire and pack-
snuasy 1755 20 IR o o s 25 s 5 saddle. v £8/ 2/ 0
fo:e"e;m”m 3 ‘Vl_d Cloyd, for provisions. £27/ 3/10 To Captain William Preston,
»d Willjam Fauquies aniel Evans, for service. . £0/ 5/ 0 for pay for himself and his
’ 4 ‘oda Evans, for pro- company of militia from May

ons. £24/ 2/ 9 7toJune 7, 1757, . ........ £134/16/ 4
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To Nathaniel Evans, for horse
lost on the Shawnese Expe-

dition. .. ... £5/ 0/ 0
To William C

visions £3/0/ 0
To John Miller, for provisions.. £6/ 4/ 7
To George Skillern, for ex-

DEESSES w53 v s imponesiomrint £2/ 7/ 6
To John Robinson, for pro-

VISIONS s s s SRR R £0/13/ 0
To Thomas Robinson £0/ 1/ 0
To James Bryan. . . £0/1/0
To James Caghey £0/ 1/ 0
To James Burk £1/ 4/ 0

To William Fle:

& “T5 John Smith, ma, £0/13/ 0
~To John Bowen, for provisions.  £4/ 6/ 5
To James Campbell, for pro-

visions.................... £1/1/ 0
To George Rowland, for pro-

VISIODS. .ot vt £0/ 7/ 0
To William Graham, for pro-

visions. £0/ 7/ 6
To William Graham, provisions

ok Indians; s sw e vis wim s s w £12/ 0/ 0
To Joseph Love, provisions

378 BT o £1/ 7/ 6
To Edward McDonald, pro-

visions for Indians......... £14/ 9/10
To Robert Looney, provisions

TOr THATARE: o i wvss sy s £2/ 2/ 0

To John Buchanan, as Captain,
for pay for himself and com-
pany, April 13 to September. £219/ 3/ 8
To Captain John Dickenson,
for pay to sundry persons
employed in building a fort at
Craig’s Creek, and for horse
...................... £92/16/ 0
Alexander Sayers, for a
‘horse impressed and kﬂle’d\ £14/10/ 0
o John Smith for same and

k }ure of another horse ....... £9/ 19/66\‘
for Ozn.a.bngs for Indmns .€4, 14/ 1
/To John Crockett, for pro- [/ "
L_visions. \-CQ/_,S/"I ]
To Joseph Cro ett, for pro-
visions for Indians......... £0/ 6/ 8

To John Bowen, sergeant.
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__£0/13/ 0 . Samuel McFerrin, James Gat-

To John Bowen, Jr., Henry é
Bowen, Moses Bowen, Rees
Bowen, each............... £0/16/o

To James McGavock
To Col. John Buchanan, charges,
for building Fort Fauquier. . .
For provisions for Indians. . .
To Robert Montgomery,
Samuel Montgomery, James
Montgomery, Jr., John
Montgomery, Joseph Mont-
gomery, Thomas McFerrin,
John McFerrin, James Me-

Ferrin, each

£0/ 5/ 0%

£11/ 9/ o
£1/11/ 35

£0/10/ 0

live, Dennis Getty, to George
Robinson, captain.
To Joshua McCormick
To James Cloyd.............
To Bryan McDonald. . ..
To David Miller
To William Armstrong, W lmm
Carvin. ..
To Michael Cl
To Richard Kerr- (Carr)
To Gabriel Jones and %oma’s'\
/ Walker to pay a company
J\’ under the command of John
Smith according to his muster
Toll, endmg June 25, 1756. .~ £576/18/ 0
mith, the | 3
balance of his pay and his ]
_son’s pay as lieutenant of the {

£50/ 0/ 0
£10/ 0/ 0
£0/ 9/18
£7/15/ 0
£1/4/0

£1/ 4/ 0]
£1/ 4/ 08
"1/ 4/0

e £20/15/ 0
To his account for provisions
\ and horse hire, and for enlist-

-ing soldiers. T

£199/ 0/ 0
To James Campbell, for pro-

B LITo) L L £0/ 6/ 0 &
To Ephraim Vause, for pro- E

VABIOTIS fisgizvsvecs vz wia isiost £4/ 3/ 0
To William Graham, for pro-

VASTONS: /sciss, s aisvuansoss asss £3/0/0 %
To Jacob Kent, for provisions. £11/18/ 0 & |
To Samuel Jackson, for pro-

VASIODE rvavseioots ST 5 £1/17/ 8

To Stephen Rentfroe, of Bed-

To John Thomas
To David Cloyd, for beet
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To Erwin Patterson for wagon-
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To James Huston, providous

amage. . for Indians. . 2 e EO/15/59,
> C..pt.nn Ilobert “dde, Jr B To James \r}wuLLle, provisions
for pay for himself, his officers Tor Indians. v e snn £0/12/ 0

and a company of militia

To William Graham, pro\‘is‘ions

under his command, Halifax. £475/ 8/ 6 for Indians.......... 9
To ‘4 To William Beard, provisions
Louisa, contra for Indians....... L1/ 5/ %
ling the rangers and militia To Edward McDonald, for pro-
of Augusta County..... . £549/12/ 9 visions and wagonage....... 7/ 6
To Doctor James Carter, for Benj. Davis, for provisions 3/ 9
cutting off and curing a To Margaret Smith, for pay
soldiers” arm, York County.. £10/ 0/ 0 allowed by the Assembly,
To Richard Pearis, Frederick Mays 1757~ Paid by
captain of the Cherokees... £81/18/ 0 William Preston, January 12
To Richard Kerr and Wm. Iy R R SR £20/ 0/ 0
Carvin, each........ e £1/ 4/ 0 1763. To (‘Ap(.nn Jolm Smith
To James Campbell, for pro- for pay while prisoner. .. £83/18/ 9
visions . sl B4 Villiam Preston as Major
To James Campbell, for pro- ~  218days......... ... £106/10/ 0
visions. . .. e £4/10/ 5 To \\ |]1mm Carvin, for horse
To James Campbell, for pro- hire and provisions. . . ... £8/10/ 6
HSIONS oo = £6/18/ 2 To Robert Breckenri for
To Robert Looney, for pro- himself and company. .. / 2/10
visions for Indians. ...... £2/ 1/ 0 To Edward Carvin.. . o
To Joseph Love, for provisions To John Smith, for provisions.
for Indians. . £2/14/ 7 To Andrew Lewis, for pay as =
A Joseph Crockett, provisions Colonel 219 days, at 10
or Indians. . o £1/ 7/ 6 shillingsiers owiie £109/10/ 0
To Edward '\IcDona]d pro- To Arthur Campbell, for pay
visions for Indians £3/ 2/ 2 wwhile PriSOner. s cae e s £41/ 0/ 0

September

27, 1758, John Buchanan stated that in the year 1756, he was

appointed by the late Governor Dinwiddie. to examine into the services

actually done by the Officers and Militia of Augusta County, ordered out for
the protection of the Frontiers, and to settle the accounts of provisions fur-
nished them, and was at the same time instructed to be very exact in his said
Inquiry, and to require proper vouchers for all the Charges of the said militia,
and also lodged in his hands £2500 to be by him disposed of in discharging
those accounts. That he was at great Expense and Trouble in riding about the
county in the execution of his office and in travelling to Williamsburg to render
his accounts.

It was resolved that the said John Buchanan ought to be paid by the
Public the sum of £100 for his Trouble, Expence and Services in the said
petition mentioned.—Journal H. of B. 1758-61. pages 25 and 28.

As paymaster for the militia of the frontier counties Col. Clement Reade
was at the trouble of agreeing with workmen to build a magazine and house
for the reception of arms, ammunition and provisions, for the use of the militia
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August 6, 1761. Thomas Lewis congratulates William Preston on his

narriage—2QQ31.

September 4, 1761. Commission to John Buchanan as sheriff of Augusta

County—2QQ32.

November 5, 1761. David Robinson in Boston. Letter to Col. Wm. Pres-

ton—2QQ34.

1762—1767. William Preston’s Account Book showing names of people
for whom he had made surveys, his charges, and some locations—29 pages—
Sample page given in text—2QQ62-90.

Apparently all the receipts from the men who received pay from Capt.
Preston for service in his different companies or for work done under his direc-
tion are preserved among the Preston Papers. Only a few of these men were
from the Roanoke settlement and they are given in the excerpts. Capt. Pres-
ton’s own accounts were allowed by the assembly, and his own service record
is given in his claim for bounty land under the proclamation of 1763. He was
Captain of a Company of Rangers from July 14, 1755 to June 24, 1756, under
the command of Col. James Patton until he was killed in the service, then for
sometime under the command of the Governor, and the remainder of the time
under Major Andrew Lewis, an officer of the Virginia Regiment. The said
Preston was allowed his bounty land for said service by Lord Dunmore in
December 1773. He was commander of another company of Rangers by act
of Assembly from June 8, 1757 until May 4, 175
disbanded by order of the Governor. Part of the above time said Preston was
under the command of Major Andrew Lewis, until May 1758, and afterwards
under the immediate command of the Governor of Virginia. He had not
received bounty land for that service under the proclamation of 1763. He was
also a representative. For this service he was granted seven warrants each for

1124 acres.!

, when the company was

ADDITIONAL NAMES OF MEN WHO DID ACTUAL SERVICE

From Eckenrode’s List of Colonial Soldiers.

John Askins, With Col. Byrd—Chalkley 1,
208.

James Barnett, F. I. B. W. 2, 451—Va.
Mag. 2, 45.

Alexander Boyd, Aug. Rec. 1, 335.

Robert Breckenridge, H. B. 1761-65, 236-F.
I.B. W. 2;816.

John Bryant, Wash. MSS. 112, 115—Hening

Page 307—Virginia Land Office.

David Bryan, Hening 7, 196. B

Israel Christian, Aug. Rec. 1, 72—F. L. B. Ww.
Vol. 2, 524, 542.

William Christian, Wash.

John Cole, H. B. 1761-65, 52—Va. Mag. 1+

William Cox, Hening 7, 220—H. B. 1752-38:

Samuel Crockett, Aug. Rec. 1, 342, 491.

Bounty Certificates, French and Indian War.
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arr, H. B. 1761-65, 236, 238.
ett, Hening 7, 210.

s, Aug. Rec. 1, 332—,
, of Bedford—To sundri;

George D

J.C.1775.

at Dunkard

Eouom 1764.
Thomas Ferguson, Hening 7, 201.

h—\ an Ferguson) Hening 7, 201.
Wi 1lmm Fleming, Surgeon—Aug. Rec. 1,

356-2, 170.
S LB W.1,90, Hening 7, 18

James Gatlive, Hening 7, 1
John Henderson, Aug. Rec 1 85.

Thomas Ingles, Lieut. Va. Col. Neil, 89.
\adrew Lewis, Captain, Aug. Rec. 1, 517.
\ajor, Dinwiddie Letters, Preston Papers.
Colonel, Hening 27—Preston Papers.
Brig. Gen. Va. His. Col. 3, 113.

philip Love, Aug. Rec. 1, 346.

John McClenachan, Dunmore’s War, 409.

Jaseph McMurty, Hening, 7, 208.

Daniel McCormack, Aug. Rec. 1, 340.

Daniel McNeill, H. B. 1758, 61, 142, 143.

John Madison, Capt. F. I. B. W. 2, 425.
Captain of & company under Col. Nash.

William Madison, F. I. B. W. 1, 290.

James McGavock, Capt. 1752-58, 489.
Hening 7, 195.

lohn Medley, Hening 7, 191.

William Miller, Hening 7, 215—Aug. Rec.

2, 505.

i

John Moore, A\ g. Rec. 1, 73—Hening 17,

196, 202, 205, 212.
Thomas Moore, Hcmng 7, 223.

Jacob Parsinger, F. I. B. W. 1, 83.
John Pate, Thomas Pate, etc., Hening 7,

205, 210.

Audley Paul, Hening 7, 129, 196—Preston’s

Company—

Henry Paulin, Hening 7, 202 .
William Preston, Capt. Preston’s Company,

Dinwiddie Papers.

Major, Hening, 8, 127.

Colonel, Aug. Records—

Service record, F. I. B. W. 1, 11.
James Robinson, Hening 7, 218, 2
John Robinson, Scout, H. B. 1766-69, 29+,
Samuel Robinson, Aug. Rec. 1, 544, Hening

7,:210; F. I. B, W- 1,181
William Robinson, Aug. Rec. 1, 344.
James Simpson, Hening 7, 191.
Francis Smith, F. I. B. W. 2, 456.
John Smith, Aug. Rec. 2, 366-H. B. 17

499, 500, 505, H. B. 1758-61, 20,

| John Smith, Lieut. Aug. Records—Killed

om. Va. His.,Col. 4, 558—7

7, 181—H. B. 1738~
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rginia Reg; pounty TmOneY to these recruits and was at the further expense of conveying
brought agq: shem 10 the appointed rendezvous; and that he had not the least prospect of
he said Tegiment heing reimbursed by them, as they are all absconded.

DHe was allowed £ 11/10/0 for the man who was refused by the officer
on the Roanok, sppointed to receive them at the place of general rendezvous. Journals H. of
*ginning and BP. 1758-61, Pages 234, 237.

Also a petition of John Posey, praying to be reimbursed the bounty
money by him paid to 11 recruits which he had enlisted into the service last

In the appendix vear, 1760, three of whom deserted, and four were rejected by the Commanding
lere are Pﬁnt&i Officer 2t the rendezvous.
ealing with the On consideration of the petition of John Posey, to be paid bounty money,
d Oﬁic.e' Some etc., for recruits enlisted for the Cherokee Expedition, four of which were taken
f t,he.t{ufe Pre- sick on their march to the place of rendezvous, where 11 others were rejected
Virginia’s part by Major Lewrs, the Commanding Officer, three of which last deserted, and the
3 bfelongs to the other eight were received by Colonel Byrd, and served on the Expedition.
rolina. Only an Resolved, That he ought to be paid the sum of £ 137/8/8 for the bounty
money and subsistence of the said recruits.—Bounty money £ 10. 30 shillings
commission. 8d. a day subsistence.
This petition being recommitted, the committee reported that John Posey
. had recruited 61 men for the Expedition, four of which were taken sick and
sstifgour ro;»*d four others deserted and 11 more were rejected by Major Andrew Lewts, at that
EIs soldiers time the Commanding Officer, and discharged, 8 of which were afterwards
d and empower received by Col. Byrd. Journals 1758-61, 236, 239, 242.
JOVErnors of our Samuel Meredith was reimbursed for enlisting and maintaining two
without fee or recruits for the Cherokee Expedition, one of which was taken sick on the march
ca, and to such and afterwards joined the forces; the other rejected by Major Andrew Lewts,
’«nfi are actu.a?_\' the commanding officer appointed to receive the recruits at the place of Rendezvous;
wing quantities and for blankets and fire-locks furnished several of the soldiers by him enlisted.
t-rents as other Robert Wade was also reimbursed for bounty money and expense of
,'ral}ted, as also enlisting a recruit. Journals H. of B. 175861, Page 244,
« ViR Alexander Waugh raised 40 able-bodied men, 8 of whom deserted.
usand acres; to Deposition of Col. John Smith in case of Joseph Ray vs. William Chandler,
aff officer, two both of Bedford County :—
| acres; to every In August being at Fort Lewis he (Col. Smith) heard Chandler sell to the
plaintiff Ray £100 worth of goods to be delivered to Ray at certain places.
The goods were not delivered at any time during the campaign. N
According to the articles of agreement signed August 6th, 1760, Chandler
sndezvous-— Vs to deliver to Ray at Dunkard Bottom on New River £ 100 worth of such

tition of James
\ised last years
vas rejected by

had paid the

i 80ods as Ray thought proper as soon as he conveniently could, which Ray was
tosell at 6 per cent. out of what he sold for his trouble. The unsold goods were
to be returned to Chandler. County Court Judgments Chalkley I, 493.

. _ Captain John Blagg was with Col. John Smith at Fort Lewis in August,

~ 1760, during the campaign under Col. Byrd vs. the Cherokees. Chalk. 1, 343. J
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He expected to use goods from Ray.
/ Col. John Smith and company debtor to John Hamilton for provisions
I at Dunkard Bottom, September, 1760. While at Dunkard Bottom Col. Smith
assumed the obligations of his soldiers for goods and provisions. Chalkley I,
341, 349.
o= SCARCITY OF GRAIN IN THE SOUTHWEST

1e shortness of the previous years crops of corn and
el southwestern
of grain was difficult

To prevent suffering and encourage the people to stay at their settlements
the Assembly appropriated an amount of money not to exceed £1,000 to be
paid out and expended in the purchase of bread, corn or other grain for the
relief of the inhabitants. The trustees were.to hire vessels, carts, wagons, etc.
to take the grain to the most suitable place for distribution and sell it at a
price that would pay for the cost. except to such persons as were really poor
and indigent. Bonds with security would be taken, when money could not be
given in payment. Hening, Statute at Large, 7, 312.

Col. Byrd had great difficulty in securing provisions for his troops. He
said that he was left to the necessity of scouring this and the next county to
secure grain from the farmers.

In January, 1761, General Amherst wrote to Gov. Fauquier that he could
not send further aid for the Cherokee campaign. The forces of Virginia and
South Carolina with Col. Grant’s Regulars should be sufficient without North
Carolina.

Col. Byrd had reported good roads from the back settlements to the upper
towns.

In one of his letters Col. Byrd said that he knew nothing more about the
Cherokees than was contained in the New York papers.

Joseph Ray, of Bedford, merchant with the army,—1760, Mr. Joseph Ray
to William Ingles.

January 14, To money lent you at Fort Lewis

To your account from the Bedford Book,

July 24, To pr. gloves, rum and bumbo. Sworn to 1765.

Capt. John Blagg deposes that Joseph Ray applied to him for permission
to furnish his company with goods and necessaries, which was granted. How-
ever, he was disappointed and had to look to another. Ray could have sold
£150 of goods.

1760, September.—Col. John Smith, debtor to John Hamilton for goods
for his soldiers at Dunkard Bottom and himself, while garrisoning Fort

__FErederick.

For Lieut. Hanley, John Smith, bowman. John Lukis, John Hamilton,
Stamp Evins, Richard Dodd, Richard New Port, Thomas Deigs, John Cotrel.
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ad of neat Thomas Carpenter, Jr., Dickenson"s Rangers, 1757-58.
of a horse, VWilliam Mann, sergeant in Col. Peachy’s Battalion, Moses Mann, eldest

<on and heir.
Thomas Mann, Dickenson’s Rangers, heir John’s son, Moses.
William Ward, under Col. Byrd, Cherokee Expedition 1760.

ant in the Henry Pauling, under Col. Byrd, Cherokee Expedition 1760.
inhabitant John Drapper, under Col. Byrd, Cherokee Expedition 1760.
btained by James Barnett, under Col. Byrd, Cherokee Expedition 1760 in Christian’s
. Company.
2ant in the Peter Wright, in Dickenson’s Company 1759.
Joseph Carpenter, in Dickenson’s Company heir, John, son of Thomas.
mpany of David Galloway, sergeant in Capt. Dunlap’s rangers, 1757.

William Galloway, in Dickenson’s Rangers, 1758.
David Calloway, Sr., in Dickenson’s Rangers, 1758

dickenson's John Boller, sergeant under Dickenson 1756-1757.
John Keene, under Dickenson 1756-1757.

rangers in George Glancy, corporal in Capt. Stuart’s company under Col. Byrd.
William Leatherdale, Bullits’ company, under Col. Byrd.

s regiment Peter Wiley, under Dickenson, 1759.
John Wiley, under Dickenson, 1759.

onf™ward William Dimpsey, Capt. Smith’s regulars.

William Holly, Gist light infantry.
James Cooper, Gist light infantry.
William Ruthum, Preston 1757.
_Robert Hutchison, sergeant in Penn. regiment Fort Pitt.
0. John Burnbry, Christians regulars.
John Pryor Preston, 1756-58.
Abraham Morris, Bullits’ regulars.
Uriah Humphreys, Capt. Posey.
Augustine Broomley, Capt. Blagg.
Edward Young, Capt. Posey.
Thomas Miller, Christian’s rangers, 1756.
Alexander Walker, Christian’s rangers, 1756.
Peter Branner, Capt. Hewitt. A
—Peter Looney, Capt. Smith, 1755-56—Taken prisoner and kept two years. |
Hugh MeNeel, drummer in Capt. Throgmorton’s regulars. —_—
Julius Webb, drummer in Capt. Throgmorton’s regulars.

|d Virginia

John Haynes, drummer in Capt. Throgmorton’s regulars. =T
I 2 )
an. = Joseph Smith, John Smith’s rangers, 1755-56, taken prisoner, died June 24,
36,
ston. ' James Milligan, Posey’s regulars.
gton. «\Vl)mlmm Ellis, Capt. Stuart’s regulars.
. Charles Ellison, Corporal under Capt. Root, 1st and 2nd Va.

ezl





image36.jpeg
{

274 KEGLEY’'S VIRGINTA FRONTIER

William Duncan, in Capt. Lewis’s regulars.

John Tatham, under Capt. Stewart of Col. Byrd.

William Poage, under Capt. Hogg.

Philip Watkins, in Capt. Montgomery’s Volunteers, Sandy Creek 1756.

John Norris, in First Virginia regiment.

David Robinson, lieutenant of rangers under Preston, July, 1753, to

_June, 1756, Lieu. Dickenson’s rangers June, 1757, to May, 1759.

' Col. John Smith, Captain in new line of 1760 under Col. Byrd. Warrant
for 3,000 acres, Captain of rangers under Andrew Lewis August, 1755, to June,
1756. His fort attacked by French and Indians and he taken to Canada,
returned 1758.

William Skillern, ensign under Robert Breckenridge of Byrd’s regiment
who garrisoned Fort Chiswell 1761.

William Ward, lieutenant, John Thompson, 2d lieutenant.

James Johnston, of Throgmorton’s regulars.

Alexander McDonald, Capt. Preston’s rangers—discharged 1758.

Dr. Thomas Lloyd, of Preston’s rangers, 1755, disbanded, June, 1756;
surgeon again under Preston June, 1757, to May, 1759; surgeon in same and
other companies, and attend to the wounded country people without fee or
gratuity—warrant for 200 acres had been given .

Walter Stewart, sergeant in First Virginia Regiment, quartermaster in
Second.

Archibald Alexander, marched to Greenbrier in 1757 as a captain of
volunteers, heir, Wm. Alexander.

SERVICE RECORDS FROM MONTGOMERY COUNTY, ORDERS OF COURT

1779. Alexander Sayers was an inhabitant of Virginia and served as an
officer in a company incorporated with a detachment of the Virginia Regiment
under Major Andrew Lewis on two different Expeditions in sd. colony and was
thus entitled to two thousand acres of land under the proclamation of 1763.

Proof by his son and heir, Robert Sayers—Claim certified to the Register
of the Land Office. Montgomery Orders of Court. August 5, 1779.

Certificate granted Jeremiah Pierce for obtaining 200 acres of land under
the King of Great Britain’s Proclamation of 1763. Same to William Phipps
for 50 acres.

Same to James and Joseph Young for 200 acres. Montgomery Orders of
Court. October 5, 1779.

Doctor Thomas Lloyd produced sufficient proof that he is entitled to 200
acres of Land for Military Services under the King of Great Britain’s Procla-
mation of 63. Mont. Orders, November 3, 1779.

George Harbison allowed fifty acres of Jand for serving as a Soldier in the
New Levies, under Col. Byrd.

John Young same, John Bethel same, Peter Wylie same, John Wylie same,
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. 1750, John Marshall—on Catawba, from Borden’s Middle tract—259
res.
1750, John Marshall—on Cedar Spring Branch of Catabo from Borden—
182 acres.
1750, John Marshall—on Catawbo, from the lower tract—19 acres.
1750, James Davis—from the lower tract, an exchange from upper “Cau-
taper ’—626 acres.
1750, Gabriel Jones—at lowest part of 2880 tract—lot No. 8—190 acres.
1751, ]m,gomer\ —on Cataba, James Montgomery’s land—654
acres.
1751, Francis Reiley—on branches of the James, from Jeremiah Cham-
berlain—400 acres.
1751, John Marshall—“Mount Hadley,” on Catawba, Borden’s Middle
tract—184 acres.
1751, John Neeley—on branches of the James, from Jeremiah Chamber-
lain—400 acres.
1751, William Richey—Gabriel Jones tract, corner, John McFerring—
190 acres.
1751, John Bowen—on a branch of James, from Jas. Patton—70 acres.
1751, Joshua Hadley—Long Bottom and Pound Bottom, south side, 186
50 acres.
1751, Joshua Hadley—on the James, from James Patton—115 acres.
1751, George Burdwell—in Bent of James, from James Patton—140 acres.
1751, John Bowen—at Buckeye Bottom on the James—380 acres.
1751, Thomas Ramsey—on a branch of Cata“bavwo acres.
4 \/l 51, Capt. John Smith—on Craig’s Creek—195 acres.
1752, William Graham—on Lee’s Creek of Catawba; ffom Patton—160
acres.

0

1752, William Scott—on Middle Lick Run of Catawba—100 acres.

1752, Thomas Hadley—from Borden’s lower tract—399 acres.

1752, Samuel Thompson—on Gibbon’s Branch of Catawba—400 acres.

1752, Thomas Watterson—on Catawba, survey—=20 acres.

1752, Joshua Hadley—at Half-Moon Bottom, north side of James—85
acres.

1752, John Marshall—on Catawba—=60 acres.

1752, Daniel Morrice—at the mouth of Catawba—33 acres.

1752, John Douchert—at Indian Camp of Craig’s Creek, from Patton—
94 acres.

1752, Adam Looney—at Meddow Run, or Bryan’s Creek, from Patton—

_acres.

1 Capt. John Smith—on Craig’s Creek, from Patton—213 acresj
1752, John Potts—on Craig’s Creek, from Patton—124 acres. s
1753, Patrick Downing—on Craig’s Creek—155 acres.
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SOME MILITARY ACCOUNTS FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR

From original entries in the Virginia Land Office:

Benjamin Clements, of Montgomery County, 1786, Proved service in
Col. Byrd’s Campaign.

James Cooper—Essex County—Col. Byrd’s campaign—Heir of Thomas
and William who served—William Byrd.

Mary Byrd in Charles City 1780 gave “Proof of service” of Col. Wm.
Byrd in the Second Virginia Regiment 1759, 1760, 1761 and part of 1762 till
tl;e same was disbanded in 1762. Received 5,000 acres, but had received noth-
ing for other service.

Issued to Wm. Byrd 1,000 on March 4, 1780; Issued to Mary Byrd 1,000,
1780; Issued to Mary Byrd 1,000, 1780; Issued to Wm. Byrd 5,000, 1780; =

Warrant issued to Abraham Smith for his brother, Lieutenant John
Smith, killed at Fort Vause in 1756, March 4, 1780.

Jacob Persinger—Proved himself and two sons, Abraham and Philip, in
Capt. Dickenson Co. 50 acres assigned to Thomas Madison—1780.

Robert Gillespie, of Capt. Dickenson’s Company of Rangers; Thomas
Carpenter, of Capt. Dickenson’s Company of Rangers; John McMullen, of
Capt. Dickenson’s Company of Rangers, 50 acres each.

Edward McMullen, of Capt. Dickenson’s Company of Rangers; Thomas
Kelly, of Capt. Dickenson’s Company of Rangers; Solomon Carpenter, dec.,
of Capt. Dickenson’s Company of Rangers, 400 acres each.

o John Summers; Sergeant, Wm. Byrd’s Co., 200 acres—Fincastle County—
flliam Anderson—in Capt. Preston’s company, 1758 to 1759—350 acres.

John Madison, served as a captain of a company of volunteers not militia
under Col. Nash, 1757, and for four months afterward—3,000 acres, 1780,
William Robinson, Lieutenant—2.000 acres.

Col. David Robinson, Montgomery, served as a Lieutenant in a company
of enlisted men under Capt. Alexander Sayers from July 1763 to March follow-
ing when the company was regularly discharged by order of Col. Andrew
Lewis who then had the command of the troops stationed in Augusta—War-
rant for 2,000 acres.

Francis Smith—1763-1764 under several captains, continued till all
troops were dishanded—2,000 acres.
sorge Armstrong, Joint heirs of James Dunlap, Capt.
mpany o s—3,000 acres.

John Young—under Col. Byrd—50 acres; William Skillern, ensign under
Capt. Robt. Breckenridge—2,000 acres; William Terry, Pittsylvania, 1780—had
served under Joseph Fox on Shawnese Expedition—50 acres; Joseph Terry,
sergeant—200 acres; William Russell, Pittsylvania, Wm. Byrd—200 acres;
Ambrose Powell, Gent., staff officer from 1755—2,000 acres; William Hutheson,
Botetort—50 acres; James Barnett—Cherokee Expedition—200 acres; John
Raeburn—>50 acres; James Johnson—350 acres; John Cadare, Montgomery—

o

of
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50 acres; Charles Ellison, Botetourt—200 acres; Thomas Lewis—200 acres,
assignee of Wm. Thompson, 1774; John Bowyer—2,000 acres in Fincastle;
John Kinkead—50 acres as a soldier; Loftus Bullem—50 acres as a soldier;
Robert Gunn—50 acres as a soldier; Jobn Carlile—350 acres as a soldier; Wm,
Black—50 acres as a soldier; Thomas Hicklen—50 acres as a soldier; Wm,
Kinkead—350 acres as a soldier.

Frances McNutt came into Augusta Court 1771—She with her children,
James, John, Frances, and Agnes came into the colony to dwell in 1769,

Warrant for 300 acres. Jacob Baughman, Kentucky County, in First
Virginia Regiment, acres; George Teater, Searg. under Col. Byrd—200
acres; James Davis, Kentucky—under Col. Byrd—30 acres; YWm. Dunn, Cor-
& poral—under Col. Byrd—=200 acres; Alexander Stewart—200 acres; John
Collier—Capt. Christian’s Ranger 1760—30 acres; Robert Mannis—Washing-
ton Co.—50 acres; Alexander McDonald—2,000 acres.

James McGavock made it appear that he served as a captain of volunteers
in an expedition against the Shawnese in 1757, when Thomas Nash was chosen
commander—served 4 months,—3,000 acres, warrant 1780, 230 acres assigned
by McGavock to Christopher Brown.

James Buchanan, heir-at-law, of Col. John Buchanan made it appear
that his father served as captain of a company of enlisted men, not militia,
on the frontiers of Augusta from 1758 till May, 1759—Warrant for 3,000 acres
in 1780, Montgomery Co.

James Robertson, served as a subaltern officer on the frontier from
October, 1763 till fall of 1764—warrant 2,000 acres, 1780, Montgomery Co

— Capt. John Smith, as captain of the new levies—3,000 acres—To surveyor
Fincastle Co.

Reuben Vass—2,000 acres—Orange.

William Melton in Capt. Christian’s Company—30 acres.

Thomas Buford, Bedford Co. Sergeant 1754—again under Col. Byrd—
2,000 acres

Joseph Ray enlisted as a Cadet, marched to Fort Ligonier, appointed
supt. of a company of artificers with captain’s pay—continued until 1759—
3,000 acres.

William Oglesby—under Col. Byrd—359 acres Co. Fincastle; William
Blinkall—under Col. Byrd—30 acres Co. Fincastle; Stephen Atkins—under
Col. Byrd—50 acres Co. Fincastle; Charles Jordan—under Col. Byrd—350
acres Co. Fincastle.

Joseph Steavins, Major and engineer—discharged 1759.

John Reeves, 5 years in Capt. Blagg’s company.

Robert Hughes—served as soldier—30 acres in Fincastle County; John
Hughes—served as soldier—50 acres in Fincastle County.

William Thompson—3,000 acres in Fincastle County. Robert Brecken-
ridge, Gent. dec., commanded a company of soldiers that was incorporated
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CONTINUED DISTURBANCES IN THE SETTLEMENTS 293

Some of the leaders were apprehended and reproved, whereupon
sere was an outburst of anger at the officers and a proclamation issued offering
(‘»00 for the taking of Col. Lewis and £500 for Dr. William Fleming and Capt.
fliam Crow. This was instigated by a group called the ““Augusta Boys,”
- if necessary, by the “Paxton Boys” of Pennsylvania.

wiha :
10 would be aided,

With th

wal

ae M

sippi and the whole of Canad: ssession of the
r-gich. This further fighting was with the Indians themselves and was
;:-»;ny to make the frontier regions safe for settlement. By the second part
i the Proclamation of 1763 special provision had been made to protect the
fadians in the possession of their lands on the western waters and thus foster
;gndly relations with them.

After the taking of Fort Duquesne i\m
the Delawares between the Ohio and Lake

nees on the Sciota and branches of the Muskingum
the Mingoes on a branch of the Sciota with 60 5
wth

Miami River \\wlmis on the Miami
1e Cherokees in western 2 olina and eastern
Teanessee with

The Proclamation of 1763 further says:*“That ith whom weare
wanected, and who live under our protection, i
wrhed in the possession of such parts of our dominions and territories as, not
aving been ceded to, or purchased by us, are reserved to them as their hunt-
a2z zrounds, we do therefore declare it to be our royal will and pleasure that
w 2overnor or commander-in-chief in any of our colonies do presume upon any
wetense whatever, to grant warrants of survey, or pass any patent, for lands
rond the bounds of their respective governments, as described in their com-
ssions, or for any lands beyond the heads or sources of any of the rivers
*ich fall into the Atlantic ocean from the west and Northwest, or upon any
ads whatever, which not having been ceded to, or purchased by us, as afore-
wd. are reserved to the said Indians or any of them.
“And we do further strictly enjoin and require all persons whatever, who
7e either wilfully or inadvertently seated themselves upon any lands within
“antries above described, or upon any other lands, which not having been
{'0- or purchased by us, are still reserved to the said Indians, as aforesaid,
f"ltll to remove themselves from such settlements.
“And further we strictly enjoin and require that no private person do pre-
> to make any purchase from the Indians of any lands reserved to the said
-ans. But if at any time any of the Indians should be disposed to sell their
;the same shall be purchased only for us in our name.
‘rade shall be free to all subjects, provided every person so inclined take
license for carrying on such trade.
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“Officers are to apprehend those fleeing from justice and return them for
trial.”
FURTHER PAY OF MILITIA ALLOWED BY THE ASSEMBLY

1765. Pay of militia called into service and for provisions furnished, some
account of which was annexed to the bill. Further accounts were to be settled
by the commissioner appointed for the western counties.
Ttems of local interest:

To Alexander Sayers, deceased, Israel Christian, Admr. For his pay as
Captain of Militia in 1759, £12/6/0.

To Audley Paul, Lieutenant, 6 '3,0.

T ay, Sergeant, 2/14+/9.

homas Lewis and Peter Hog, each for four days

attendance as commissioner to settle accounts, 2/0/0.

To John Armstrong for provisions, 1758, 30/0/0.

To Lanty Armstrong for provisions, 1758, 30/0/0.

To James, Mathew and John Arbuckle, for service, each 2/1/0.

To Alexander Sayers, for wagonage and provisions, 1761, £281/9/6.

To James Amox (Emacks) service, 2/1/0.

To John Chiswell, for company, lead and provisions, 1763, 110/6/4.

To Robert Breckenridge, late Captain of a Company of militia stationed
at Fort Chiswell, 1761, £251/18/0.

To Lieut. William Woodward for conducting a party of Cherokees to
the City, 1762, 25/1/6.

To Leonard Price, Adjutant for the 700 additional forces for the relief of
Fort Loudoun

THE AUGUSTA MILITIA OFFICERS IN THIS PERIOD

August 16, 1763. Col. John Buchanan, Lieutenant of the County; Elijah
McClenachan, Lieut. of militia; Robert Shanklin, Capt. of militia; Andrew
Lewis, Lieutenant of the County: William Preston, Colonel of the County;
Walter Cunningham, Alexander McClenachan, William Crow, John Bowyer,
Captains of militia; John McClenachan, Michael Boyer, William McKee,
David Long, Lieutenants of Militia; James Ward, Ensign.

September 21. Samuel McDowell, Capt. of Militia; John Greenlee and
Wm. Edmiston, Lieutenants of Militia; Robert Curry and Samuel Edmiston,
Ensigns.

June 22, 1764. John McNeill, Colonel of Militia; William Christian,
Captain of a company by Act of the Assembly; George Skillern, Captain in
the place of James Alexander by order of Col. Andrew Lewis.

1765. James Robinson, Captain of Militia.

1767. Andrew Hays, Captain; James Cloyd, Captain; Jas. Lapsley,
Ensign. Abraham Smith, Lieutenant-Colonel of the County; Thomas Madison,
Capt. of Militia; Samuel Wallace, Lieutenant of Militia; Mathew Arbuckle,
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~ March 15, 1767. Robert Poage, Jr., 150 acres on Back Creek, a branch of
1. noke, at a place called The Forks, patented to Robert Poage, Sr. June 20,
1749. From Robert Poage, Sr. £20. Au. D. Bk. 14, 123.

March 10, 1767. Israel Christian, merchant, 120 acres on a branch of
Buffalo, a branch of Roan Oak, Baptist McNab'’s line, Edward McDonald’s
line. From David Mills and Hannah. £15. Teste: Francis Smith, William
Christian, William Preston, Robert Breckenridge, Benj. Hawkins, Wm.
Fleming, Edward Carvin, Stephen Trigg. Nathan Gillian, Au. D. Bk. 13, 240;
141 acres on Glade Creek of Roanoke, corner of John Bowen’s land. Au. D. Bk.
18, 243.

March 19, 1767. Petition for a road from Vause’s to Samuel Woods:
Samuel Woods,————————Thomas Goodson,———————John Richards,
Wm. Ward, Hugh Crockett, Jacob Kent, Robert Crockett, Philip Love,
Joseph Crockett. Au. Orders of Court, Chalkley, 132.

May, 1767. Court—John Smith, agent for the James River and Roanoke (
and grant, files bill against James Patton’s executors for his pay from 1741 to |
1751. The whole grant except Smith’s had come into the hands of Patton’s
sxecutors. Au. County Court Judgments, 1770. Chalkley I, 361. e

May 10, 1767. Andrew Lewis, 190 acres on Peter’s Creek, patented to
Jas. Patten, he to James Bane, November 28, 1751. Bane to Thomas Walker
May 16, 1764. 117 acres, part of 400, lying on Goose Creek, a branch of
Roanoske River, formerly in the seisin of Jar i
o James Bane, May 18, 1758, and by him to
I+ racts £200. From Thomas Walker, Gent., of Albemarle County, an
Mildred. Au. D. Bk. 18, 399, Chalkley 454.

May 13, 1767. Edward Springer, 190 acres patented to Joseph Robinson,
1748, on the waters of Roan Oak on Buffalo Creek joining land formerly Geo.
Robinson’s; corner Coles Land. From Joseph Robinson, £200. Au.D.Bk. 13,249.

May 16, 1767. Edward Carvin, 174 acres on RoanOak, patented to
William Carvin, Sr., April 1, 1748. From William Carvin, son and heir-at-law
f William Carvin. £100. Au. D. Bk. 13, 291.

May 19, 1767. Mathew Reed, of Staunton, Shopkeeper, 100 acres on
linker’s Creek of RoanOke. From James Donaldson and Elizabeth, of Mount
loy Township, York County, Pa., by Attorney Robt. Reed. £40. Au. D. Bk.
351851

May 19, 1767. James Donaldson. Witness to deeds; 1753, Alex. Ritchie
» James Douglass; 1754, James Davis to Wm. Preston; 1755, Alex. Ingram
» Jacob Reed. Au. Deed Books.

May 21, 1767. John Robinson and John Henderson, road surveyors from
ead of North Fork of Roanoke to Capt. John Robinson’s Mill. Orders of
ourt—Chalk. I, 135.

May 25, 1767. Mathew Emacks, 395 acres on Creeley’s Branch. Survey,
‘m. Preston.

conveyed
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Greenfield, First Home of William Preston, Remodeled

“oods’. In May John Robinson and John Henderson were highway surveyors
oppmihe head of North Fork of Roanoke to Capt. Robinson’s mill, and John
ob. son from his mill by the Den to the county road leading to Warwick.
1 August James Cloyd was surveyor from Graham’s Clearing to James
bhnston’s, and Michael Cloyd from his house to the branch below James
[oore, Sr. Henry Dooley and John Thompson were to view the road from
Welshman’s Run” to the Bedford line and Israel Christian took Wm.
raham’s division from the Great Lick to Graham’s Clearing, William Bryan
1d charge from Fort Lewis to Peter’s Creek, Thomas Barnes from Peter’s
reek to Tinker Creek and John McAdoo and John Thompson from Tinker
reek to the county line. In November Thomas Tosh, Daniel McNeill and
-ancis Grymes were to view a road from the Stone House to Evans’ Mill. An
teration from the Stone House to Tinker Creek was ordered to be made by
e overseer, assisted by Robert Breckenridge. In May 1768 James Robinson,
1gh Crockett and Philip Love were appointed to view a road from James
ontgomery’s to the old county road leading from Catawba to New River.

THE TOWN OF NEW LONDON

Through this period a close connection between this community and
dford was established. Since further settlement on the western waters was
hhibited, people began to close up the gaps on the head waters of the eastern

R
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Home of Bryan McDonald, Jr., 1766

flowing streams. New London in Bedford became a new western frontier town.
Lots were laid off in 1761 and a good percentage of the purchasers came from
the up country. The original owners were Col. Wm. Callaway, James Callaway,
Richard Doggett, Alexander Sayers, Wm. Bumpass, John Thompson, William
Ingles, William Christian, Ambrose Bramblett, Thomas Walker, Alexander
Borland, Mathew Talbot, Patrick Henacie, Col. Richard Callaway, John
Callaway, John Layne, Howard Mead, Wm. Mead, Nath. Guest, James Niel,
Col. John Sn 'thz, Henry Donald, Joshua Early, Mead & Howard, the Court-
“house No. 10. Besides a sufficient number of stores there was an Academy of
learning in operation as early as 1765. And in the Community of the Peaks
there grew up a large congregation of Scotch Irish and Eastern Virginia dis-
senters who were working their way toward the Southwest. Among the mem-
bers were the Armstrongs, Boyds, Ewings, Evans, Beards, Dooleys, Campbells,
Todds, Carters, Reads, Harveys, Howards, Hills, Mitchells, McFarlands,
Triggs, Sharps, Kennedys and Stones.

THE CONGREGATIONS ON THE ROANOKE AND CATAWBA

The Vestry provided some religious service for every part of the county,
but the people were generally dissenters and it was in their congregations that
we find the most active religious worship. The two foundation Presbyterian
congregations were about Sinking Spring on Catawba and about the Great





image45.jpeg
frontier town.
>rs came from
nes Callaway,
pson, William
er, Alexander
llaway, John
., James Niel,
d, the Court-
1 Academy of
of the Peaks
Virginia dis-
ng the mem-
s, Campbells,
McFarlands,

the countys

.gations ﬂ_lﬂ‘

Sresbyterial

t the Great
Py

S——

NEW LIFE ON THE ROANOKE 323

Lick and Mason’s Creek on the Roanoke. The land for the meeting house on
Jm“ba was set apart in the beginning of the settlement, and while the survey
¢ the congregation on the Roanoke was not made until 1769, there are refer-
e't"‘ that show that there was an organized congregation (New Antrim) there
srom the beginning. From 1760-1770 there were more regular visits from minis-
«ers appointed by the Presbytery and more definite reports about the congre-
zations. In 1762 Rev. Mr. Craig was appointed for one Sabbath at Roanoke
and one at Catawba. In 1763 Rev. Mr. Black was recommended for one sab-
nath at Roanoke and one at Catawba. In 1766 Rev. Mr. Todd was to adminis-
ser the sacrament at Roanoke in Augusta County after Rev. Mr. Brown had
examined persons for the sacrament and had ordained the elders. About this
time Rev. James Campbell was a supply in the congregation. In 1767 Rev.
\r. Leak was appointed for two months at Forks of James and two at Roanoke.
Rev. Mr. Brown, two at Roanoke and Rev. Mr. Craig six Sabbaths at Craig’s
Creek. In 1768 Rev. Mr. Craig had six Sabbaths at Craig’s Creek and Reed
Creek and places “interjasent.” In 1769 a tract of 36 acres of land was sur-
veved for William Bryan, William Bryan, Jr., Wm. Cowen and DavidGasson
small branch of Roanoke on the east side of a small run at the foot of a pine
ddge. A report of Mr. Craig’s mission to collect funds for the expenses of the
lmrch gives the names of the different congregations, their membership,
ir officers and the amount subscribed. There were five congregations—
Sinking Spring, 75 families, 40£, Representatives, John Mills, Joseph Cloyd,
Edward Sharp, Benj. Hawkins, Thos. McFerrin, Robert Finley, Andrew
Woods; Craig’s Creek, 45 families, 28£, Representatives, Malcolm Allen, John
Crawford, James Wilson, James Robinson, Samuel Lawrence; Denean, 70
families, 40£, Representatives, James McCune, David Cloyd, William Preston,
William Fleming, Robert Breckenridge; New Antrim, 43 families, 30£, Repre-
sentatives, Andrew Boyd, Robert Poage, Neal McNeal, William Bryant,
Thomas Tosh; New Derry (Forks of Roanoke), 36 families, 45£, Representa-
tives, Jos. Barnet, Robert Ritchie, David Robinson, Samuel Woods, William
Beard, Samuel Crockett, Hugh Crockett,James Robertson, James Montgomery.
The Craig’s Creek Congregation was in the lower part of Craig’s Creek
and along James River, the forerunner of the Spreading Spring Congregation.
Denean was in the neighborhood of Greenfield and Cloverdale. New Antrim
*as the Roanoke-Peter’s Creek congregation. New Derry (Forks Meeting
H”“‘@ was on the upper branches of the Roanoke, the location of the meeting
Bouse not indicated. Bryan McDonald was Reader on the Roan Oak from 1765
' 1768 and for his services he was allowed 3,478 tithables at 1s. 8d. He prob-
3bly used the Presbyterian meeting houses for places of worship.

DISCORDS IN THE MORAL TONE OF THE COMMUNITY

George Campbell was fined for absence from divine worship, Robert
-Lmnmwham for being drunk, James Burk for swearing, Humbertson Lyons
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for adultery, Stephen Holston for breaking the peace, Patrick McDonald for
bemfr drunk and drinking the Pretender’s health, John Graham for abusmq
Rev. John Hindman, John Flanagan for horse-stealing, Samuel Hulls f()r
breaLlng the Sabbath by singing profane songs, Daniel Evans for not provid.
ing for his children in a ‘“desent” christian like manner, John Crank for un.
necessarily traveling ten miles on the Sabbath, Henry Fuller for disturbing
the peace, Joseph Love for biting off John Noland’s ear, '] for
breaking into Alexander Boyd's store (acquitted), John Bowyer for i using
Israel Christian who was trying to suppress gaming, \egro Tone hanged fm-
the murder of John Harrison —John Harry
accused of stealing from Thomas Ingles, sed of \te‘llll‘lo‘
from John Elliott, Adam Harman bound to the peace towards William lhomp-
son, William Thompson examined for counterfeiting, Priscilla Ladd given
thirty-nine lashes for larceny, Judith Ryley convicted for murdering her
illegitimate child, Daniel McAnair committed for being drunk before the
court, Alexander Sayers, Gent. committed for appearing before the court
intoxicated, Alexander Sayers indicted for blasphemy, David Harman sum-
moned for not bringing up his children in a christian-like manner, John Daley
charged with entering the house of William Carleton and Esther and taking
~ or destroying property and reaping and carrying away four acres of wheat.

Lfmles Lockhart and Col. John Smith imprisoned for debt.

S

THE ENCOURAGEMENT OF USEFUL INDUSTRY

They furnished their households with such articles as
rought with them or could be made on the ground, they ~up1)hed their
tables with such food as they could find in the forest or produce in their gardens
and fields, they made their own clothes from cloth woven from fibre produced
by themselves or purchased from the local stores, they discovered mines,
refined ores and forged metals for tools and ware with which to work; and
vet they were interested in commercial agriculture and profitable industry.
In 1760 proposals were made to the General Assembly for the encouragement
of useful undertakings. An act was passed to stimulate the cultivation of the
vineyard so as to employ the young and old and utilize the fine climate of the
colony and also to encourage the production of silk. It was proposed that
£500 be given as a premium to the person who in any one year within eight
years would make the best wines in quantity not less than ten hogsheads,
that £100 be given to the second candidate, that the money be raised by sub-
scription of public-spirited gentlemen, and that premiums for silk and other
articles advantageous to the colony be included, if the subscriptions would
allow it. Over a hundred citizens subscribed from one to four pounds, among
them were Alexander Boyd, Leonard Price and William Fleming. The Par-
liament of Great Britain had offered encouragement for the raising and expor-
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1753, Henry Holdston, Sr.—on Craig’s Creek-—181 acres.

1753, George Friedly—on Craig’s Creek—100 acres.

1758, William Plummer—on Craig’s Creek—218 acres.

1754, Peter Looney—at head of Meadow Creek—250 acres.

1753, James Mitchell —on Catapa, at end of Cross Mountain from Robt.
Poage—263 acres.

1753, James McCown—on Catapa, from Robert Poage—380 acres.

1753, Thomas McFerran—on Persimmon Branch, from David Mitchell—
220 acres.

1758, Gabriel Jones—on river above Craig’s Creek, from Alex. Ritchey—
400 acres. =

1753, John Crawford—tract on Craig’s Creek and tract on Patterson’s
Creek from Rev. John Craig—

1753, William Ralston—survey, on Catawba and Looneys Mill Creek—

1754, Mathias Lindsey—survey, on south side James River—124 acres.

1754, Malcolm Allen—survey, on small branch of James—285 acres.

1754, Samuel Lindsey—survey, on north side James—by Allen—170 acres.

1754, John Warnock—on the main branch of James River—Grant—400
acres; same—by his homestead—54 acres.

1754, Henry Holstein—at the Forks of John’s Creek—146 acres.

1754, Frederick Hartsough—on Craig’s Creek—180 acres.

1754, Mathew Patton—on Craig’s Creek—266 acres.

1754, Robert Williams—on Craig’s Creek—275 acres.

1754, Henry Maurice—on Craig’s Creek—246 acres.

1754, Placard Sciler—on Craig’s Creek—162 acres.

1754, Abraham Smith—on Craig’s Creek, Mulberry Bottom=-86 acres,

1754, David Looney—on Craig’s Creek—Survey—204 acres.

1754, Conrad Harkey—on John’s Creek—Survey—75 and 66 acres.

1754, William Gilmore—on a branch of Lee’s Creek—Survey—67 acres.

1754, Willilam Preston—on John’s Creek and Craig’s Creek—Survey—
650 acres.

1754, Samuel McRoberts—on Catawba, Joining his own—Survey—100
acres.

1754, Henry Bowen-—on Shadrach’s Run—Survey—143 acres.

1754, Patrick Sharkey and Robert Montgomery—on Sinking Spring
Branch, of Catawba—(for the congregation)—85 acres.

1753, James Hollis—on Catawba—surveyed by Wm. Preston—395 acres.

1753, Paul Garrison—on Catawba—surveyed by Wm. Preston—137 acres.

1753, George Hollis—on Catawba—surveyed by Wm. Preston—149 acres.

1753, John Neeley—where he lives—surveyed by Wm. Preston—125
acres.

1753, John Neeley—where he lives—surveyed by Wm. Preston—220
acres.
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March, 1762, Robert Looney, Survey, 60 acres on south side of James
/\iver, beginning on a creek. corner to a former survey of Looney’s. Au. Sur.
Bk. 2, 14.

November 13, 1762, John Bowyer from Robert Looney and Elizabeth,
£800, 250 acres on James River, patented to Robert, July 80, 1742. Au. D.
Bk. 11, 47. g

February 4, 1763, John Adams from John Sloan of Rowan County, North
Carolina, 300 acres on Loonie’s Mill Creek. Au. D. Bk. B. 13, 204.

1763. Archibald Kyle—Survey, on Looney’s Creek.

1763. William Lewis—Surveys, 172 and 225 acres on Back Creek.

1763. William Davis—Survey, 100 acres on Back Creek.
o~ April 9, 1763, Abraham Smith from John Smith, £86, 100 acres on Jamgs]

iver joining Robert Looney, Mortgage 500 years. Au. D. Bk. 11, 183.

May 28, 1763, John McClelland—Grant, 84 acres, Big Meadows, on
Looney’s Mill Creek.

June 4, 1763, Col. John Smith—Survey, 98 acres on the James River, on

\ the south side of branch adjoining the land on which he dwells. Augusta
\ Surveyor’s Book 2.
= June 38, 1763, John Buchanan from Alexander Sayers, For £200—Slaves.

August 30, 1763, Margaret Rentfroe—Grant, 250 acres on a branch of
Looney’s Mill Creek.

August 30, 1763, Willlam Rowland-——Grant, 248 acres on waters of James
River. Pat. B. 35, 371. Bk. 35, 426.

Ia) August 30, 1763, Isaac Taylor—Grant, 70 acres on Purgatory Creek. Bk.
4, 430.

August 30, 1768, George Clarke—Grant, 300 acres on a branch of Looney’s
Creek.

June 27, 1764, Joseph Davis—Grant, 116 acres on Looney’s Mill Creek.

June 27, 1764, John Mills~——Grant, 122 acres on a small branch of James
River.

June 27, 1764, John Mills—Grant, 150 acres on waters of James River.

June 27, 1764, John Mills—Grant, 143 acres on Looney’s Mill Creek. Pat.
Bk. 33, 507-514.

November 20, 1764, Joseph Looney from Robert Looney, £20, 160 acres
at the Sinking Spring on the west side of James River. Au. D. Bk. 11, 740.

March 15, 1765, Peter Looney, heir-at-law of Peter Looney, deceased,
from Adam Looney and Margaret, £80. 180 acres on Long Run, a branch of
James River, corner of another tract belonging to Peter formerly in possession
of Robert Looney, Sr. Au. D. Bk. 12, 185.

August 18, 1765, Israel Christian from John Mills and Mary, £50, 122
acres on a branch of James River, Sloan’s line; 150 acres on waters of James
River. Adam Looney’s line, £50; 178 acres, patented 1745, on a branch of
James River, beginning on a branch of Looney’s Mill Run. Au. D. Bk. 12,
169-174.

m





image48.jpeg
354 KEGLEY'S VIRGINIA FRONTIER

/J May 13, 1762, William Bowyer from John Smith, £100—mortgage 600
(__acres on Craig’s Creek and 2 slaves. Au. D. Bk. 10, 405.

August 11, 1762, Israel Christian from Abraham Smith, 86 acres at Mul-
berry Bottom on Craig’s Creek.

August 17, 1762, Malcolm Allen, with his son, Hugh, added to tithables,
Augusta Orders of Court.

November 12, 1762, Abraham Bess from James Johnston, 108 acres on
Catawba, part of 230 patented 1761. Au. D. Bk. 11, 40.

November 17, 1762, Samuel Lawrence, yeoman, from Gabriel Jones and
Margaret, £215, 400 acres from Alex. Ritchey and he from Alex. Douglass,
eldest son and heir-at-law of Roger Douglass, dec. Au. D. Bk. 11, 142. Above
the mouth of Craig’s Creek on James River.

December 20, 1762, Dennis Getty—Surveys, 320 and 204 acres.

December 27, 1762, Archibald Kyle—Survey, 120 acres on the Timber
Ridge. John Poage, Entry, 1,000 acres on the head branches of Wolf Creek and
Sinking Creek, branches of Greenbrier and New River.

February 11, 1763, George McAfee from James McAfee, Sr., £100, 190
acres, part of 300 patented to James December 15, 1749. On Catawba; cor.
James McAfee, Jr., James McAfee, Jr., from James, Sr., £100, 110 acres, the
other part of 300. Au. D. Bk. 11, 153-167. James McAfee—Survey, 53 acres
on Craig’s Creek.

March 8, 1763, John Donnelly from Paul Garrison, of Rowan County,
North Carolina, 68 acres, part of 137 acres patented to John Donnelly, Sr.
and Paul Garrison, May 29, 1760, on the waters of Catawba at a place called
the Knob; corner to the land of John Donnelly, Sr. Au. D. Bk. 11, 340.

March 8, 1763, Israel Christian from Ludwig Ipsher, eldest son and heir
of Peter Ipsher, dec. £ 50, 200 acres on John’s Creek of Craig’s Creek. Au. D.
Bk. 11, 326.

April 6, 1763, Francis Smith from William Moore, £50, 275 acres on
branches of James River; cor. John Scott, now Samuel McRobert’s land. Au.
D. Bk: 11, 888;

April 7, 1763, Amos Potts and John Potts, Jr., from David Looney and
Mary, £25, 204 acres on waters of Craig’s Creek, by patent August, 1761.
Au. D. Bk. 11, 346.

May 20, 1763, Israel Christian from John Marshall, of Orange County,
North Carolina, £20; 259 acres on Catawba Creek of James River. Au. D.
Bk 11, 821.

May 23, 1763, Samuel McRoberts—Grant, 400 acres on a south branch
of Catawba running southwest to his old survey. Pat. Bk. 35, 127.

June 22, 1763, Gabriel Jones from James McCowan and Margaret, 380
acres on Cataupa of James River, whereon James now lives, purchased from
Robert Poage, 1753 238.

, of Bedford, from Robert Williams, of

T . -
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October 22, 1765, Settlement of John Mathews’ estate, By Sampson and
George Mathews— 1 bad doubl loon, passed by James Huston and returneq.
Paid Stephen Arnold a debt due his son James; Paid James Trimble for holgj,
2 inquests and constables’ fees; Paid Alexander Walls—Credit—By gold so) d
By burned silver——————— . Bk. 38, 442. '

September 9, 1766, John Miller’s appraisement by James Rowlang
Samuel McRoberts et als. Will Bk. 4, 5. Settlement May 20, 1767—T,o Drt
Thos. Lloyd. Will Bk. 4, 13. The estate of Col. James Patton, deceased, 1,
John Buchanan, Dr.—————To six slaves purchased by Buchanan in
compliance with Patton’s will and applied to use of Buchanan’s eldest daughter
Mary, and annexed to her lands on James River, January 22, 1767, Wil Bkj
4, 39.

October 30, 1765, John Donelly’s appraisement by Bryan McDonald and
John Armstrong. Will Bk. 4, 105.

January 18, 1768, Alexander Bruce’s appraisement by James McDowell,
Anthony Bledsoe, Josiah Ramsey. Will Bk. 4, 173.

August 29, 1768, John Bowyer’s appraisement by Jonathan Smith, Walter
Stewart, William Rowland. Will Bk. 4, 182.

August 17, 1769, Additional appraisement of Mathew Shaddon, by Brvan
McDonald, Lanty and John Armstrong. Will Bk. 4, 245.

September 19, 1769, Robert Luney’s will—Estate to wife, Elizabeth, and
son, Joseph; Witnesses, John Smith, John Crow, Thomas Crow, Elmir Crow,
John Barton. Bot. W. Bk. A. 8.

November 4, 1769, George Darr’s appraisement, by Robert Breckenridge.
John Neely, Joseph Cloyd. Will Bk. 4, 325.

March, 1765, Henry Kirkham's will—Wife, Mary; Son, Robert, the land
at the Great Spring; Son, Samuel, a mare bought from Edward Gill; Son.
Michael, 50 acres between John Collier and John Wiley; Son, John, 100 acres
near John Collier’s on the Dry Creek side; Sons, Henry and Joseph, infants.
land testator lives on to be divided by Richard Woods and John Sommers:
Daughter, Jane, Infant in wife’s womb; Daughters, Margaret and Elizabeth—
Heirs by former wife————————Executors, wife, Peter Wallace and John
Summers. Au. Will Bk. 3, 403. .

March 19, 1765, Will of John McNeill, late Major in the Virginia Regi-
ment. “All estate to be sold and proceeds put in the hands of friend, :\h
Andrew Sproul, of Gosport, merchant, to and for the use of father, if living.
if not, then to brother, Hector McXNeill, on condition that he get his discharge
from the army within 12 months; if Hector refuse, then to be given to Aunt
Henrietta McNeill. To Miss Jenny McClenachan, her choice of the horses .hf
bought from her brother when they came from Carolina; also an antient family
white stone ring, set in gold, which I hope she will wear as a memorial of the

great esteem and affection I have long had for her. To good friends, Colonel
Andrew Lewis and George Weedon—to former, best set of pistols; to Jatter-
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his sword. For the sake of him who has long esteemed he hopes that Thomas

wis, Jno. Madison, Gabriel Jones, cousin Annabella McNeil and Mr.
Andrew Sproul will accept and wear a plain mourning golden ring. Executor
Col. Andrew Lewis. Teste: Gabriel Jones, Felix Gilbert, Jno. Madison.
Col. Andrew Lewis qualified, with Jno. Madison.” Au. Will Bk. 8, 386.

August 18, 1767, James Cloyd was appointed administrator of John
Cloyd, his brother, with Mathew Arbuckle and Joseph Richeson. Orders of
Court, Aug. 18., Will Bk. 4, 26. Estate settled, May, 1771. Paid Martin
Allen, Cryer of Vendue. Will Bk. 4, 407.

August 23, 1767, David Stewart died in 1767. He gave to his wife,
Margaret and her oldest daughter, Mary Pall, 1 tract lying over James River,
100 acres. Administration granted George Mathews and Andrew Lewis.
Will Bk. 8, 509.

March 27, 1769, Francis Smith is administrator of Francis Kidd. Prop-
erty consisted of one silver watch. Will Bk. 4, 207.

August 16, 1769, George Darr desired that his debts and funeral expenses
be paid and if anything remained that Col. William Preston should have it,
because for many years past during misfortune he had treated him with ““great
friendship and humanity.” Wm. Preston, executor, with Francis Smith and
Henry Carter. Will Bk. 4, 230.

August 16, 1769, James McClure, taylor, went to South Carolina and
died. He gave his son, James, his Bible and big pot; son, Samuel, the next
biggest pot; wife, Agnes, to have the use of both pots; other sons were John
N Andrew: daughters, Eleanor, Jean and Esther. Will Bk. 3, 47.

August 16, 1769, William Preston and William Campbell qualified as
administrators of Col. John Buchanan with William Thompson, Robert
Breckenridge, William Christian, Patrick Campbell, John Mills, David
Robinson and John Taylor. Au. Will Bk. 4, 233.

Appraisers for Col. Buchanan’s estate were appointed on this same day,
August 16, 1769:—on James River, John and Jonathan Smith and George
Skillern:; on New River, John Blackniore, Samuel Pepper and Joseph Howe:
at Reed Creek, John Montgomery, David Looney, and Josiah Ramsey.

The appraisement on New River was reported on October 14, 1769, that
on Reed Creek, September 26, 1771.

August 26, 1769, William Preston qualified as executor of James Patton
in the place of Col. John Buchanan, dec., with Robert Breckenridge, John
Mills, David Robinson, William Campbell, Patrick Campbell, George Skillern
and John Taylor.

August 26, 1769, In compliance with Col Patton’s will 5 negro slaves were
purchased by Wm. Preston and turned over to Andrew Boyd and Mary Boyd,
his wife, eldest daughter of Col. John Buchanan, dec., and Margaret, his wife.
Settlements of Col. Patton’s estate were now made with both William Thomp-
son and John Buchanan, executors.

e
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February 19, 1757, by Cash of John Marshall.

April 23, 1757, by Cash of James Hutton.

January 18, 1757, by Cash of John Stevens.

February 20, 1758, by Cash of Esther Sawyers.

April 22, 1758, by Cash of John Potts.

May 17, 1759, by Cash of Hugh Caruthers.

February 25, 1760, by Cash of William Carravin.

August 25, 1760, by Cash of Peter Ipsher.

July 11, 1761, by Cash of James Bane.

November 14, 1761, by Cash of Jacob Harman, Sr., for the Horse Shoe
Bottom.

June 16, 1763, by Cash of Joseph Crockett for John McCurry.

November 16, 1764, by Cash of Nicholas Welsh for Placard Sciler;

1767. By Cash of John Taylor for Frederick Stern—purchased by Taylor.

March 5, 1767, by Cash of Widow Bowen, Sr.

September 12, 1768, by Cash of Daniel Goodwin for Mathias Vance.

June 27, 1768, by Cash of John Peary for land formerly Kemp’s.

February 22, 1768, by Cash of Thomas Goodson for William McCurry
and Thomas Wilson. Au. Will Bk. 4, 383.

1765. PROCESSIONERS’ RETURNS

James Rowland and Samuel Hollis as high up as Craig’s Creek: For
William Preston, on Lick Run, for William Preston, on Catawbo, where
Marshall formerly lived; for Israel Christian, on Catawbo, joining land formerly
John Marshal’s; for Robert Montgomery, William Hutchison, John Me-
Farren, Israel Christian, John Miller and William Ritchie.

A report was also made for William Snodgrass, Francis Reiley, David
Mitchell, Francis Smith, and James Johnston, on the Catawba.

James McCay and James Scott reported on the Cow Pasture as follows:
“As it has pleased your Worships to send an order to nominate four Persons in
the Cow Pasture to mark the lines of the several plantations there, we the
subscribers, hereof, have gone from the Forks at James River upwards to
Joseph Mays and Thomas Feemster and William Black from there to the head
of the waters. There is many places that there is no livers in and others that
doth not know their lines. The names of such as we found their lines are as
follows : James Scott, William Gillespy, John Handley, Wm. McMurry, James
BEard, Cap. Jno. Dickenson, James Hamilton, Ralf Laferty, John Cartmill,
James Hugart, Robert Stewart, James McCay, Charles Donally, Thomas
Gillespy.” Signed, James McCay, James Scott.

N. B. The above is as exact as we could make it to ye Worshipful Court.

. The upper branches processioned by Feemster and Black were more
thl@kly settled.

1765. Processioners on the Waters of James and Catawbo, on South side
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report: For Thomas McFerrin on Persimmon Run; For Michael Cloyd; For
Wm. Herbison adjoining Andw. McNelly; For Robert Rowland; For James
Rowland; For Joseph Looney on Sinking Spring; For Andrew McNelly; For
John Mills on Looney’s Mill Creek; For James Moore on Looney’s Mill Creek;
For Margt. Rentfro, on Beaver Dam Run and Looney’s Mill Creek; For
William Rowland; For George Poage; For John Mills, where he now lives; For
Margt. Clark, where she now lives; For Margt. Clark, on Back Creek; For
George Burdwell; For James Lauderdale; For John Smith; John McFerrin,
John McClellan; For John Alcorn, where He now lives; For David Mitchell;
For William Rowland on Patrick’s Run; For Alexander Evans; For John
Crawford, where he now lives; For John Adams. Vestry Book, 408-409:)
1767-68. Processioned by James Simpson “and-FohmrMitchell betiveen
Buffelow and James River (in the forks): For John Mitchell, John Thompson,
James Dreaddon, David Dreaddon, John Davis, Arthur McClure,
HBenj. Wattson, James McGavock, Robert Whittley, Alex. Beggs,
ohn Murray, William Mathews, Richard Mathews, James Willson, John
Poqoe Charles Allison, James Gilmore, John Paxton, George Salling, John
< iam McBride, James Simpson.
Wm. McElhenny and Paul Whitley, between Buffalo and
James River: mJOhH Maxwell, Wm. McClenachan, David
Cloid, Edley ul, James Cloid, Wm. Hall, Christian Vinyard, John Bouers,
John Logan, Benj. Estill, Wm. McElhenny, Henry Bonns, Henry Cartmill,
Samuel Gibson, James Bates, Paul Whitley, Jonathan Whitley, William Logan.
Vestry Book 449, 450.

JOHN BOWEN

The will of John Bowen probated May 19, 1761, was made on March 13,
1760. The \vitngs\sésﬁ: re John Smith, Margaret Smith, Peter Luney, Walter
Crockett, Jor han Smith, Jno. Buchanan. It was proved by John and
Jonathané}m h and John Buchanan. Wife, Lillie, was to be sole executor and
guardian of the children. Everything was left to her, except one mulatto slave
which was to go to his daughter, Mary, and then to Charles, in case there were
no heirs to Mary. In case she should marry again, wife to have only a third of
the property. Lillie qualified as executor with Jonathan Whitley and Wm.
Buchanan—=Signed with mark.

In the appraisement made by John Dailey, John McClure and Neal
McNeal there are listed three negroes; four horses; ten cattle; fifteen hogs;
eleven pigs; two green rugs; three beds and clothing; personal apparel and a
riding horse.

From different accounts of the family we learn that Moses Bowen and
Rebecca Rees, the parents of John Bowen, came from Wales to Pennsylvania
and that John married Lily McIlhaney and lived for a while in Maryland
before coming to Virginia. The earliest record of John Bowen in Augusta
County is a bond to Col. Patton dated 15th April, 1748. This was for land on
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vestry were Capt. James Campbell and Erwin Patterson for the Roan Oak. In
the organization of the Augusta militia (1752) James Patton was County
Lieutenant, George Robinson captain, Baptist McNabb, ensign; James Camp-
bell captain of a company of foot; John Smith major of Foot; John Buchanan,
Colonel of Horse and foot; David Robinson, Lieutenant of Foot; William
Robinson, Lieutenant of Horse; Ephraim Vause, Captain of Horse. In 1754
George Robinson was made captain of Foot, Abraham Smith, Captain of Foot,
William Ingles, now of New River, Captain of Foot. In 1755 hoth Willia

Preston and John Smith were captains of Rangers. By 175 chanan_
was Lieutendnt of the county, John Smith Colonel of Militia, William Preston

Major of Militia, Robert Breckenridge and James Alexander Captains of

Militia.

CHURCH AND HOME LIFE IN THE COMMUNITY

Like the people in the Forks of James these foundation families on the
Roanoke were Presbyterian in faith and Christian in practice. While they
recognized the established church authority and entered into its administration
they had their children baptized by their own dissenting ministers and provided
for themselves an arrangement for congregational worship. When Rev. John
Craig came to the region of Augusta as resident dissenting minister he visited
in turn the different sections of the county, even making an annual journey
to the Rockfish neighborhood on the south side of the Blue Ridge. In the
spring of 1749, he came from the neighborhood of North Mountain to the
Roanoke. On his way down he baptized John Lowry, son of John, at Looney’s
Mill Creek on February 26; Robert Looney, son of David Looney, March 4;
Samuel McGown, son of Samuel, March 4; Samuel McRoberts, son of Samuel,
near Catapa, on March 5; John Meson, son of John, near Great Lick, on March
7; Thomas McNeal, son of Neal McNeal, March 7; Mary Tosh, daughter of
Tasker Tosh, March 7; Mary Miller, daughter of John Miller at Tinker Creek,
March 8; and on his way out John Miller, son of John Miller, of Calfpasture,
on March 12. John Lewis, son of Andrew, was baptized in Beverley Manor
September 14, 1746; Samuel Lewis, son of Andrew, September 18, 1748;
Thomas Madison, son of John, October 1, 1746; James Alexander, son of
William, October, 1746, at North Mountain; Mary Alexander, daughter of
William, May 23, 1748, at North Mountain.

From the beginning of the settlement there was some appointed meeting
place. In 1755 Rev. Hugh McAden had an appointment to preach “at Roa-
noke” but was diverted from his course by the rising hostility of the Indians.
In that same year the Parish Minister, Rev. John Jones, was directed to
preach at James Neeley’s on the Roanoke as well as John Mathews’ in the Forks
of James. There are several references to an organized congregation on t}xe
Roanoke and the tract of land finally entered for its use proves to be the site
of the first church known to be built.
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THE PROCLAMATION OF 1754
A proclamation for encouraging men to enlist in his Majesty’s service for the
defence and security of this Colony.

“Whereas it is determined that a Fort be immediately built on the river
Ohio, at the Fork of Monongahela, to oppose any further Encroachments, or
hostile attempts of the French and the Indians in their Interest, and for the
Security and Protection of his Majesty’s Subjects in this Colony; and as it is
absolutely necessary that a sufficient Force should be raised to erect and
support the same: For an Encouragement to all who shall voluntarily enter
into the said Service, I do hereby notify and promise, by and with the Advice
and Consent of his Majesty’s Council of this Colony, that over and above their
Pay, Two Hundred Thousand Acres, of his Majesty’s the King of Great
Britains Lands, on the East Side of the River Ohio, within this Dominion,
(One Hundred Thousand Acres whereof to be contiguous to the said Fort, and
the other Hundred Thousand Acres to be on, or near the River Ohio) shall be
laid off and granted to such Persons, who by their voluntary Engagement, and
good Behavior in the said Service, shall deserve the same. And I further
promise, that the said Lands shall be divided amongst them immediately after
the Performance of the said Service, in a Proportion due to their respective
Merit, as shall be represented to me by their Officers, and held and enjoyed by
them without paying any Rights, and also free from the Payment of Quit-rents
for the Term of Fifteen Years. And I do appoint this Proclamation to be read

nd published at the Court-House, Churches and Chapels in each County
hin this Colony, and that the Sheriffs take Care the same be done accord-
ingly.

Given at the Council Chamber in Williamsburg, on the 19th Day of
February, in the 27th Year of his Majesty’s Reign. Annoque Domini, 1754.

Robert Dinwiddie.:
God save the King.”
VII Hening—

AID FROM AUGUSTA

Three hundred men were to be raised and placed under the command of
Col. Joshua Fry. Washington was made Lieutenant-Colonel on March 20. At
Alexandria there were 75 men, 50 of whom he had enlisted. Van Braam was
sent to Augusta to receive 50 men whom Col. Patton was going to recruit. In
this he ts he was disappointed. On March 25th the men who had enlisted in Augusta

T TRobert Dinwiddie was governor of Virginia from November 20, 1751 to January, 1758. His father was Robert
Dinwiddie, s merchant of Glasgow, and his mother Sarah Cumming, of the ssme place. Before becoming governor he
“~tupied many jmportant positions. In 1727 he was collector of the customs in Bermuda, and from that “surveyor-
£era] of customs in the southern parts of the continent of America.”” He was thus a member of all the councils of
""Amenc&n Colonies. After residing in London #s a merchant engaged in trade with the colonies he was appointed
Butenant-governor of Virginia. Worn out from the duties of the French and Indian War he returned to England in
‘MUary, 1758, and lived in declining health until July, 1770. He had a brother, John, who was & merchant on the
ypabannock River in Virginia.
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